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Building 
Sustainable 
Communities

Clúid Properties
Under Management 

9,064

Dublin

2,619

Kerry

91

Clare 

81

Cork

1,233

Limerick 

263
Tipperary

275
Kilkenny

83

Kerry

448

Laois 

350

Offaly 

82

Roscommon 

39 Longford

142

Wicklow 

66
Carlow 

205

Louth 

561

Galway  

617

Mayo  

165
Cavan  

69

Leitrim  

11

Donegal 

166

Sligo  

141
Monaghan  

21

Kildare 

528

Meath

379Westmeath

57

Wexford

259
Waterford

204
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62
Rooms in Group Homes

3,783 
Apartments and Duplexes

5,219
Houses

See how we are  
Building Sustainable Communities
Page 21

Clúid Housing is an award winning, not-for-
profit charity currently providing over 9,000 
secure, affordable, high-quality homes to 
men, women, and children across Ireland.
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Our Vision  
and Direction

Clúid Housing is an award winning, 
independent, not-for-profit charity, 
leading the way in delivering secure,  
high-quality, affordable homes.
Our vision and mission shape Clúid’s 
future direction. Our Corporate Strategy 
guides the organisation, ensuring our 
values are enshrined in our work and 
resources are allocated to provide clear 
direction, creating a society where 
everyone has a great place to live. Future 
emphasis will support further strategic 
focus on environmental, social and 
governance to continue to deliver homes 
and build sustainable communities now 
and into the future.
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Against the ongoing backdrop of a 
global pandemic, Clúid continues 
to deliver on its mission to provide 
quality homes and services that enable 
people to create homes and thriving 
communities. 2021 was another 
successful year for Clúid and one  
in which we can take pride. 

Covid-19 continued to present a range 
of challenges for us, but Clúid and its 
board, executive, staff and residents 
were, yet again, steadfast and resilient 
in the face of it. Our ways of working 
have continued to evolve, as they did 
in 2020. Some of the meetings of the 
board and its committees took place 
in person where Covid-19 measures 
allowed, but we worked mostly online. 

Over the course of the year, the board 
approved 1,259 homes across 46 
projects, at an overall cost of €384.4m. 
A total of 968* homes were delivered 
into management and we supported 
3,356 new residents across Ireland. 
This included the State’s first Cost 
Rental homes in Kildare and Dublin. 
Cost Rental is a brand new housing 
tenure in Ireland. At scale, it has 
the potential to shape the housing 
market, providing long-term, secure, 
affordable housing to the middle-
income group, who are facing 
relentless housing challenges. 

Clúid continues to work with the 
relevant stakeholders to develop a 
sustainable funding model over the 
long-term with a view to delivering 
Cost Rental homes at scale over the 
next five years. We will continue to 
closely monitor this programme, 
ensuring that we can refine and finesse 
our approach, in line with the capacity 
of the organisation and the needs of 
our residents. 

Our delivery of age-friendly housing, 
through Clann, also continued to go 
from strength to strength – with over 
800 homes now in management. 
As Ireland’s proportion of older 
people continues to rise rapidly and 
rents increase in the private rental 
sector, it is important that we retain 
our focus on this key area of growth. 
As one ages, a secure place to call 
home should be a given. 

It is always vital to ensure that we are 
clear on where we are going and how 
we will get there. In that vein, the 
board was very pleased to approve
three key strategy documents: the 
Greening Strategy; the Procurement 
Strategy and the Resident 
Engagement Strategy in 2021.

The Greening Strategy sets out Clúid’s 
path to providing for a greener future 

Chairperson’s 
Statement 
As Chair of the Board of Clúid Housing, 
and on behalf of my fellow board 
members, I am pleased to welcome 
you to the 2021 Annual Report. This 
report provides a summary of the work 
and achievements of Clúid in 2021, as 
our organisation continues to grow and 
respond to Ireland’s housing need.

1,259
Over the course of the year, 
the board approved 1,259 
homes across 46 projects.

3,356
Clúid supported 3,356 new 
residents across Ireland.
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for our residents and staff, taking an 
innovative and dynamic approach. 
This has included a significant 
retrofitting project and involvement 
in EnergyCloud, an innovative new 
project, supported by Clúid and key 
players in the energy sector that will 
see surplus renewable energy used 
to tackle household fuel costs for 
our residents. 

The Procurement Strategy outlines 
Clúid’s commitment to the highest 
standards of procurement for goods 
and services, in order to achieve the 
best value for money and to ensure 
that due diligence is exercised in all 
aspects of the business. The more 
economically we operate the more 
funds we can use to serve our 
social mission.

The development of our Resident 
Engagement Strategy also marks 
an exciting step forward in our 
efforts to ensure that the voice of 
our residents is clearly heard and 
that we respond appropriately. As a 
non-profit organisation, we are driven 
by the needs of people, not profit. 
Engaging with residents ensures that 

we meet their needs to the best of 
our ability, that we learn from their 
knowledge and experience, and 
that we continue to maintain vibrant, 
sustainable communities. 
In line with this approach, the board 
invited residents to participate in the 
2021 planning day, which was held in 
person in November. The board heard 
first-hand from our residents and it 
was a powerful moment. The residents 
brought their experiences to life for 
the board members through their 
presentations. This was an opportunity 
for the board to see how passionate 
the residents are about sustainable 
communities and how a secure home 
can enable them to become more 
actively engaged in their communities. 
This was a welcome reminder that our 
residents are key stakeholders and 
central to everything that we do.

It has been a priority for us to ensure 
that we support and adhere to the 
regulation of the housing sector. 
Statutory regulation, which Clúid 
and others in the Approved Housing 
Bodies (AHB) sector had called for 
over several years, was officially 
introduced in July 2021. This resulted 

in the winding down of the interim 
regulator and the establishment of the 
Approved Housing Bodies Regulatory 
Authority (AHBRA). 

The regulatory standards, which 
were developed following 
consultation with the sector and 
are underpinned by the principles 
of proportionality, accountability 
and transparency, have now been 
published. It is expected that AHBs 
will be required to make their first 
statutory return in 2022. It is our view 
that statutory regulation will serve 
us well in providing assurances to 
residents, the state and funders, that 
Clúid is operating in a robust and 
stable environment. 

Since our last Annual Report three 
of our volunteer directors – Aidan 
O’Hogan, John-Mark McCafferty and 
Enda Cunningham – have stepped 
down. I would like to thank them for 
their input over the years, at board 
level and with the executive team. 
Three new directors have been 
appointed – Claire Solon, Deborah 
Power and Niall Sheridan. They bring 
a range of appropriate skills to 
the board. 

In early 2022, the Minister announced 
the establishment of a Housing 
Commission and we were pleased 
to see the appointment of our CEO, 
Brian O’Gorman, to this commission. 
He will bring his lengthy experience of 
the social housing sector to bear on 
their deliberations.

2021 was a positive year for the 
residents, staff and board of Clúid. 
I look forward to continuing to 
collaborate with my hardworking 
colleagues across Clúid and to 
maintaining our worthy efforts to lead 
the way in the AHB sector, providing 
a great place to live for households 
across Ireland.

Mark Shakespeare
Chairperson

* 2021 saw a year-on-year net increase of 950 units, accounting for several reclassified 
properties. An extra 968 new units were brought into management between January 
and December 2021.
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A chara,

In a year that saw the country and 
the world come together to take 
extraordinary actions in health, 
climate, and housing, Clúid’s staff 
continued to collaborate closely with 
our colleagues across national and 
local government, along with funding 
partners, developers, local community 
action groups and residents, to meet 
our mutual objective of building 
sustainable communities. 

Our sustainability objective influences 
our new developments, ensuring 
that they contribute to national 
climate goals. It also motivates 
our programme of retrofitting 
existing homes, to improve our 
carbon footprint. It unites us with 
our residents, through promoting 
biodiversity and sustainable green 
landscaping within our resident 
communities. Clúid is investing in 
the future to deliver sustainable new 
homes that deliver on our social 
purpose. In line with this objective 
the organisation will implement a new 
Environmental, Social and Governance 
Strategy in 2022.

2021 saw the publication of Housing 
for All, the new government housing 
policy. We welcome the commitment 
to multiannual programmes and the 

associated funding. The planned 
enhancements to a wide range of 
housing issues are a good omen for 
the future. We welcome the launch of 
Cost Rental housing, which aims to 
provide housing for a long-neglected 
portion of people. We support 
the many objectives referenced in 
Housing for All which are necessary 
for delivering a fairer and more 
sustainable housing system. We look 
forward to contributing to delivering 
the ambitions contained in Housing 
for All.

Clúid’s vision is a society where 
everyone has a great place to live. 
Clúid’s dedicated team of over 
250 staff rallied together, in 2021, 
to deliver on this vision, creating 
innovative processes to maintain and 
improve on the vital services that we 
provide for over 24,000 residents 
in Clúid’s 9,000 homes. Despite a 
difficult year, the team at Clúid worked 
tirelessly to deliver 968 new homes 
and provide services to over 3,300 
new residents in 2021. 

Clúid was the first Approved Housing 
Body (AHB) to publish a Design Guide, 
outlining design standards for all new 
schemes coming into management. 
The second edition of this guide 
was launched in 2021. It sets the bar 
high for quality housing, delivering 

comfortable and secure homes, 
while ensuring that a Clúid home is 
affordable, easy to use and maintain.

We were pleased to introduce a new 
funding model to deliver social homes 
in Ireland. We partnered with Legal 
and General Investment Management 
(LGIM), to introduce a new long-
term financing agreement valued 
at €54m. In April, we delivered the 
first homes through this partnership, 
Blackbanks View, a 40-unit apartment 
development in Raheny, Dublin. 
Blackbanks View is now home to 
almost 100 residents. 

Clúid’s dedication and hard 
work was recognised at the Irish 
Council for Social Housing (ICSH) 
Community Housing Awards 2021. 
The regeneration of St. Mary’s 
Mansions was awarded the ‘Best 
Regeneration Project’, while Clúid’s 
Housing Team won ‘Best Housing 
Management Team’.

We were delighted to engage 
with residents again for the 
‘Great Place to Live’ competition. 
This competition recognises residents 
who enhance their neighbourhoods 
and create welcoming and attractive 
communities. White Oaks in Kildare 
won Clúid’s ‘Best Neighbourhood’ 
award, while Broome Lodge in Dublin 

Chief 
Executive’s 
Statement
Clúid’s staff continued to collaborate closely with our 
colleagues across national and local government, along 
with funding partners, developers, local community 
action groups and residents, to meet our mutual 
objective of building sustainable communities.
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won the award for Clann. This was 
an excellent achievement for the 
residents and housing teams involved.

With the introduction of a Tenancy 
Sustainment Coordinator, a new 
resident support role in Clúid, we are 
strengthening our community and 
working with some of Ireland’s leading 
national agencies to provide services 
to residents of Clúid. These essential 
partnerships can provide financial and 
personal support services, if and when 
our residents need them.

With great sadness, we saw the 
passing of our dear colleague, 
Mike Crowley. Mike worked as Scheme 
Manager, supporting residents in 
Clann’s Mill Court, an age-friendly 
scheme in Cork – a place made special 
by his welcoming and friendly manner. 
His loss is more difficult, coming so 
soon after the passing, in late 2020, 
of our dear colleague, Ger Fennelly. 
These losses are especially difficult 
when the best are taken from us. 

We were honoured to remember our 
dear friend and colleague, Simon 
Brooke at the inaugural Simon Brooke 
Lecture in November. Through his 
work at Clúid, Simon was a strong 
voice for equality and change in 
housing policy in Ireland. He was 
a leading voice in the campaign to 

introduce Cost Rental housing, a new 
type of housing tenure for working 
people, who struggle to find secure 
housing in the private rental sector. 
In July 2021, we were pleased to 
announce the delivery of Ireland’s 
first Cost Rental homes in Taylor Hill, 
Balbriggan in Dublin, in partnership 
with the Housing Agency and Fingal 
County Council. Our objective is to 
scale up and it is our intention to 
increase the number of Cost Rental 
homes and secure the future of this 
important new type of housing tenure. 
Developing Cost Rental housing, 
alongside our social housing and 
age-friendly housing, will enable us 
to develop enduring mixed tenure 
housing communities.

At Clúid, we recognise that our 
success is only possible due to the 
collective hard work and dedication of 
our colleagues across the organisation 
and those external stakeholders who 
share our objective of improving social 
and affordable housing. 2021 was a 
year of successes and achievements 
and we look forward to surpassing 
these triumphs in 2022.
 

Brian O’Gorman
Chief Executive

3,300+
Clúid supported over  
3,300 new residents  
across Ireland in 2021.

968
Clúid worked tirelessly 
to deliver 968 new 
homes in 2021.
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Our Vision, Mission  
and Values
Clúid’s approach to housing 
provision is holistic. We treat 
our residents with respect,  
we listen to them and we 
actively seek their feedback.
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Our Values
Leadership

Clúid is passionate about results that matter and 
is committed to constantly challenging the way 
we do things, so that we can be the best at what 
we do. We aim to set the benchmark for housing 
quality and customer service. We accept only 
the highest standards of conduct and put service 
before self-interest.

Collaboration

Clúid is approachable and responsive. We aim to 
get the best, mutually beneficial results from all our 
working relationships. We keep our promises.

Responsibility

Clúid takes personal and collective responsibility 
for ensuring that the needs of our customers 
are consistently met in a cost effective and 
sustainable manner.

Caring

Clúid believes that when we care for each other 
and interact with integrity and respect, we will 
ultimately achieve the best possible outcome in 
any given situation.

Our Vision Our Mission

Clúid’s vision is a society where everyone has a 
great place to live.

Clúid aims to achieve its vision by providing quality 
housing and services, to enable people to create 
homes and thriving communities.

Annual Report 2021
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Our Board
Board members, all of whom are 
non-executive, are drawn from 
diverse backgrounds and bring a 
broad range of experience and  
skills to their deliberations. 

The board aims to ensure a balance of both age and gender among members 
and openly advertises for positions. 

The board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance.  
A detailed overview of governance and board and committee meeting attendance 
is available on pages 78 and 79 of this report.

Our  
People
Clúid firmly believes that our 
success is down to our dedicated, 
professional team.

12
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Kathi Ó Riain 
Vice-Chair 
Kathi is a Partner and Head of the 
Property and Construction Department 
at Addleshaw Goddard Ireland. 
Originally from Cork, Kathi studied 
Law and German in UCC before 
moving to Dublin and completing a 
Masters in Trinity College. A fluent 
German speaker, she worked in the 
European Commission in Berlin before 
qualifying as a solicitor in the Law 
Society of Ireland. She has considerable 
experience in acting for foreign and 
domestic investors on the sale and 
acquisition of all types of property 
and she also acted on a number of 
the biggest office lettings in Ireland 
on both the landlord and tenant side. 
Kathi works closely with the Corporate 
and Banking Departments in relation 
to the property elements of mergers 
and acquisitions and with the Banking 
Department in financing both for banks 
and borrowers.

Mark Shakespeare 
Chair 
Mark has over 30 years’ senior 
management experience, most 
recently as a senior director in 
Finance with Montreal incorporated 
SNC-Lavalin Group. Prior to the 
acquisition of Kentz Group by SNC, 
he was treasurer of London listed 
Kentz Group, and is based in Clonmel. 
He has served as treasurer of the 
McInerney Homebuilding Group for 
nearly 20 years and during this time he 
gained experience in the private and 
social housing markets in Ireland and 
the UK. His previous career had been 
in the public sector.

Des McCarthy 
Treasurer 
Des has over 25 years’ experience 
in the financial services sector, 
encompassing roles in client facing 
and support functions. Des spent a 
large part of his career structuring 
and financing European infrastructure 
projects in the transportation, 
telecommunications and the water 
and waste treatment sectors. Des was 
an Executive Director and CFO of 
KBC Bank Ireland, with responsibility 
for the finance, treasury, credit and 
data functions. Des is currently CEO 
of Microfinance Ireland a government 
funded not for profit lender to small 
businesses that cannot access loans 
from the conventional banking market.

Michael Cleary 
Michael founded the property 
development consultancy and asset 
management company, Cleary McCabe 
& Associates in 1997. He is a member 
of the Institute of Directors in Ireland. 
Michael holds a Masters Degree in 
Planning and Development Economics 
from Dublin Institute of Technology and 
is a fellow of the Society of Chartered 
Surveyors in Ireland and the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors. 
 

Eamonn Doyle 
Eamonn has spent 25 years as Chief 
Executive or Chief Operations Officer 
in the technology and financial 
services sectors. Through these 
roles, he has extensive management 
experience of information technology, 
programme management, risk 
management and governance – 
much of that gained in complex multi-
country environments. His previous 
employers were IBM, Capgemini, and 
the Davy Group.

Anne McLoughlin 
Anne is an independent consultant 
and non-executive director providing 
support and advice to boards and 
organisations on strategy and 
governance. Anne’s reputation is built 
on a successful career as a highly 
effective Operations Director and in the 
last few years, as a successful interim 
executive director, in the social housing 
sector; devising and implementing turn 
around projects that transform services. 
She is regularly invited to speak at 
national and international events about 
asset management, sustainability, fuel 
poverty, governance, and the needs 
of destitute migrants. In the UK Anne 
is a trustee of the Refugee Council, a 
Board Member of Hightown Housing 
Association and Chair of Homeless Link, 
the national membership organisation 
for Homelessness Charities.
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David Mullins 
David is now retired and 
is Emeritus Professor of Housing 
Policy at the University of 
Birmingham. For over 30 years he 
led research projects on the role of 
housing associations in the delivery of 
housing policy. David was a member 
of the coordination committee of 
the European Network for Housing 
Research (ENHR) and led the ENHR 
working group on social housing 
governance from 2005-2018. He has 
been a member of three housing 
association boards in England 
and has worked for the Housing 
Corporation and for two London 
local authority housing departments. 
He has a particular interest in 
resident engagement and represents 
the board on Clúid’s resident 
engagement working group. 

Deborah Power 
(appointed 03/03/22)
Deborah is Vice President of Finance 
and Control for Aramark Northern 
Europe, part of the US multinational, 
Aramark Corporation. Deborah has 
over 20 years’ experience across 
various finance disciplines and leads 
the Shared Services Transactional, 
Control and Accounting teams. Over 
the years, Deborah has gained diverse
experience across several sectors and 
has lived and worked in a number 
of European countries. Deborah is a 
member of the ACCA and holds an 
MBA from DCU.

Paul Mooney 
Paul is a director of Cushman and 
Wakefield, a global commercial real 
estate agency, and is Head of Asset 
Services for Ireland. Prior to joining 
Cushman and Wakefield, Paul was 
managing director and founder of 
Benchmark Property, a specialist 
property management agency. Paul has 
worked in property management for 
almost 30 years and is a member of the 
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
and the Society of Chartered Surveyors 
of Ireland. Paul is a former member 
of the board of the Property Services 
Regulatory Authority where he served 
two terms and is currently Honorary 
Treasurer of the Society of Chartered 
Surveyors of Ireland. Paul lectured in 
property management for 10 years for 
Technical University Dublin and the 
Society of Chartered Surveyors. 

Niall Sheridan 
(appointed 03/03/22)
Niall has over 37 years’ experience 
in the social housing sector, most 
recently as Group Director of 
Development and Asset Management 
at Choice Housing Ireland Ltd. 
(retired December 2020). Niall has 
extensive experience in the strategic 
and operational delivery of capital 
development and asset management 
programmes. He studied at Queens 
University Belfast and Ulster 
University (MBA), is a Chartered 
Member of the Chartered Institute 
of Housing (CIHCM) and a Chartered 
Town Planner MRTPI (retired). He 
is currently Chair of the Northern 
Ireland advisory board of the 
Chartered Institute of Housing (CIH), 
a board member of the Chartered 
Institute of Housing (CIH) Ireland 
Advisory Board and an independent, 
non-executive committee member 
of the Northern Ireland Housing 
Executive’s Asset Management and 
Maintenance Committee.

Claire Solon 
(appointed 19/04/21)
Claire is Managing Director of Greystar 
Ireland and leads the investment, 
development and operational sectors 
for this multi-family and student 
business. Prior to joining Greystar in 
2019, Claire was Head of Property at 
Aviva Ireland, with responsibility for 
strategy formulation and acquisitions, 
disposals and developments within 
its extensive property portfolio. 
Claire was previously Head of Estates 
Management at ESB Ireland. Claire 
is an active Fellow of the Society of 
Chartered Surveyors Ireland (SCSI) and 
was the youngest person to be elected 
to the role of President in 2016. She 
is currently Chair of the Practice and 
Policy Committee and is also a Fellow 
of the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors (RICS). 
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Brian O’Gorman
Chief Executive Officer
Brian has over 35 years of senior 
leadership experience in the delivery, 
management, and development of 
social housing in Ireland. Beginning as 
its first employee, Brian has led Clúid 
Housing, one of the leading approved 
housing bodies (AHBs) in Ireland, for 
over 25 years. During this time, he 
has grown Clúid’s property portfolio 
to over 9,000 homes, providing good 
quality, secure housing to over 24,000 
people in Ireland. Brian is committed to 
supporting Clúid to be a strategically 
focused, innovative organisation at the 
forefront of delivering social and Cost 
Rental housing. He is a past President 
of the Irish Council for Social Housing, 
was a founding member of the Housing 
Alliance and has served on Dublin City 
Council’s Strategic Policy Committee on 
Housing for eight years. He holds a BA 
in Philosophy from University College 
Dublin (UCD) and an MSc in Business 
from University College Cork (UCC). 
In 2022, Brian was appointed to the 
Housing Commission.

Fiona Cormican
Director of New Business
Fiona joined Clúid in 2007. She is 
currently our Director of New  
Business. She has previously worked 
as New Business and Regeneration 
Project Manager for Clúid and as 
Director of Operations for Tógáil 
Developments Ltd.

Fiona has over 20 years’ experience in 
social housing development. She holds 
a Masters in Project Management 
from the University of Limerick and is a 
licensed Property Service professional. 

Kathleen Cottier
Director of Housing Services
Kathleen joined Clúid in 2001. She 
is Director of Housing Services and 
leads Clúid’s frontline housing services 
team. She holds an MA in Geography, 
a Post Graduate Diploma in Urban 
Development, and a Diploma in Irish 
Property and Facility Management. 
She is a member of the Chartered 
Institute of Housing and a member  
of their Ireland board.

Kate Innes
Director of Finance  
and Treasury 
Kate joined Clúid in 2021. She is our 
Director of Finance and Treasury. 
Kate trained and worked with Price 
Waterhouse London before joining 
Threshold Tenant Trust, a housing 
association in south London. She 
has worked as a Finance Director in 
a variety of small to medium-sized 
enterprises (SMEs). She worked with 
Taff Housing in Cardiff as their Strategic 
Executive Director for Business and 
Finance. More recently, she has worked 
as the interim Chief Financial Officer for 
the Welsh Revenue Authority. 

Cara Ryan
Director of Corporate Services
Cara joined Clúid in 2016. She is 
our Director of Corporate Services 
and oversees the IT, Business 
Transformation, People and Culture, 
Communications and Policy and 
Facilities functions at Clúid. Cara has 
over 10 years’ experience working in 
senior leadership roles. She holds a 
BComm (Law & Economics) from NUIG, 
a BA (HRM) from NCI, a Post Graduate 
Diploma (Employment Law) from UCD 
and an MSc (HR Strategies) from DCU.

Jo Whittall
Director of Property Services
Jo joined Clúid as Director of Property 
Services in 2017 and is responsible 
for the management of our property 
assets. He has over 30 years’ experience 
working with both contractors and 
housing associations, to deliver 
customer-focused repairs, compliance 
and improvement services. He is also 
a director of EnergyCloud, a not-for-
profit organisation working to divert 
surplus wind energy to the homes 
of those in fuel poverty. Jo is Vice 
Chair of Direct Works, a UK-based 
organisation, with 120 social housing 
members responsible for more than 2.2 
million homes, committed to reshaping 
the future of housing maintenance. 
Jo holds a BSc (Hons) in Building 
Technology from UMIST and an MBA 
from Cranfield. He is a member of the 
Chartered Institute of Building.

Our Executive Team
Clúid’s executive team is responsible 
for leading the development and 
execution of Clúid’s strategy and for 
overseeing day-to-day operations. 
Our employees are talented people, who bring enthusiasm,  
confidence, expertise, professionalism and respect to our business.  
We are collectively committed to achieving our vision of a society  
where everyone has a great place to live.
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In September 2021, the government 
published its plan for housing up to 
2030, Housing for All – A New Housing 
Plan for Ireland. Clúid welcomed 
this publication. The plan, which was 
described by many stakeholders as 
ambitious, includes a commitment to 
create the environment for the supply 
of over 300,000 new homes by the 
end of the decade – a target of 33,000 
homes per year. 

This will include over 10,000 social 
homes and 6,000 affordable homes for 
purchase or rent (including 2,000 Cost 
Rental homes) every year. As Ireland’s 
largest social housing provider, we 
look forward to working with our 
partners in the housing sector to 
achieve these social and Cost Rental 
targets. In July 2021, Clúid provided 
Ireland’s first ever Cost Rental homes 
at Taylor Hill in Balbriggan, Dublin. 

Land reform is an important part of the 
plan, with the promised introduction, 
by 2024, of a new Residential Zone 
Land tax, to be collected by Revenue. 
By the end of 2022, the proposed land 
value sharing mechanisms will mean 
that land value increases, brought 
about by re-zoning decisions, will be 

shared with the wider community. 
While some may argue that these 
measures do not go far enough, 
in terms of limiting the impact of land 
price inflation, this is a welcome start. 
We believe that these measures will 
go some way towards reducing the 
cost of housing generally, and the cost 
of delivery for Clúid, as an Approved 
Housing Body (AHB). 

We are also pleased to note that 
there will be an increase, from 10% to 
20%, in the Part V requirement of the 
Planning and Development Act (2000), 
with more provision for affordable 
and Cost Rental housing, as well as 
social housing. This is in line with the 
recommendations set out in Clúid’s 
report on Part V, Planning Gain and 
Obligations: Promise and Performance 
of Part V, published in 2021, referred 
to on page 43.
 
We particularly welcome the reference 
to the resourcing of the Approved 
Housing Bodies Regulatory Authority 
(AHBRA). Clúid and other stakeholders
have advocated for this for many
years, as statutory regulation came
into place.

Clúid Welcomes 
Housing for All
A New Housing Plan 
for Ireland
The government’s Housing 
for All plan aims to deliver over 
10,000 social homes and 6,000 
affordable homes for purchase 
or rent per year.
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A commitment to the reform of 
Owners’ Management Companies 
(OMCs), to ensure that they have 
adequate sinking fund expenditure, 
and a proposal to consider introducing 
a non-statutory dispute resolution 
process were also very positive 
developments. Clúid has been actively 
involved in seeking these changes, 
along with our partners, the Society for 
Chartered Surveyors in Ireland (SCSI) 
and the Apartment Owners’ Network 
(AON), through the (Multi-Unit 
Developments) MUD Reform Group. 

The Housing for All plan is also 
proposing an examination of the 
related issue of latent defects in 
multi-unit developments. We are 
very pleased to see this, having spent 
millions on remedying defects across 
our apartment stock, with great 
disruption to our residents and the 
diversion of our own resources. This is 
an issue where we have been very 
proactive in seeking redress. 

The current differential rent system 
also merits review, on the basis of 
tenant equity and the administrative 
complexity it currently presents.

We were happy to see this included in 
Housing for All. This has been a policy 
priority for Clúid for a number of years. 

We welcome the commitment to a 
review of the structure and operation 
of the Capital Advance Leasing Facility 
(CALF) and to the implementation of a 
multi-annual focus for AHBs, as part of 
Local Authority Delivery Action Plans. 

Housing for All sets out a coherent, 
ambitious, but urgently needed 
plan of action for housing in Ireland, 
over the next decade. In 2022, we will 
be developing our Corporate Strategy 
for 2023 - 2025. Already part of our 
core delivery, as evidenced by our 
existing Cost Rental units, Housing 
for All objectives and targets will be 
central to our plans for the future. 
We will continue to work closely with 
our partners and stakeholders, to 
achieve these targets and to underline 
the importance of the scaled-up 
delivery of social and Cost Rental 
housing in resolving the housing 
crisis and helping to build sustainable 
communities into the future.

300,000
The target in Housing 
for All is over 300,000 
houses by the end of 
the decade. 
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Clúid’s vision is a society where 
everyone has a great place to live. 
We are committed to delivering 
quality housing and services that 
enable people to create homes and 
thriving communities.

As a testament to our commitment to 
quality housing, we have produced an 
in-house Design Guide, setting out our 
minimum standards for high-quality, 
well designed housing developments 
which provide safe, secure homes that 
are easy to use and maintain.

High-quality housing is central to 
creating a sustainable community. 
Sustainable neighbourhoods are 
areas where efficient use of land, 
high-quality design and effective 
social integration combine to provide 
the physical and social infrastructure 
required to promote vibrant 
communities, while protecting and 
enhancing the local environment.

Clúid plans to further develop our 
commitment by implementing an 
Environmental, Social and Governance 
(ESG) Strategy in 2022, to ensure we 
deliver sustainable, environmentally 
friendly new homes.

As we implement this strategy, we will 
establish a framework for setting 
ESG targets and Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). We will gather 
relevant data, monitor KPIs, and 
report on these on a continuous basis. 
These will evolve over the coming 
years and will be recorded as part of 
our Annual Reports.

Environmental, 
Social and 
Governance 
Strategy
Clúid plans to further develop our 
commitment by implementing 
an Environmental, Social and 
Governance (ESG) Strategy in 2022, 
to ensure we deliver sustainable, 
environmentally friendly new homes.
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Environmental 
Clúid currently has several 
environmental policies, as outlined 
in our current and 2020 Annual 
Reports. These will be consolidated 
into our ESG strategy in future. 
Our environmental policies aim to 
address climate change and work 
towards a healthier environment, 
by supplying sustainable homes, 
enhancing biodiversity, and ensuring 
environmental protection throughout 
our business, in order to reduce 
our emissions and comply with all 
applicable legislation. They include:

 » Committing to carbon reduction, 
during the building and lifetime 
of our homes

 » Investing in biodiversity in our 
scheme designs, developing 
community gardens and 
allotments and ‘re-wilding’ 
green spaces

 » Retrofitting existing homes to 
a minimum BER B2 standard 
by 2030.

Social 
Our social policy outlines our goal 
to respect, empower and protect 
our people and residents. Current 
initiatives include:

 » Encouraging inclusion and 
diversity for residents and staff

 » Empowering our employees
 » Creating more attractive places to 

live and improving the quality of 
life and wellbeing of residents

 » Ensuring that good community 
connections are implemented 
and retained

 » Implementing our Resident 
Engagement Strategy.

Governance
At Clúid, we are committed to 
conducting business in the right way, 
complying with the law and working 
responsibly. We do this by:

 » Leading with integrity
 » Practising good business conduct
 » Complying with applicable 

legislation
 » Ensuring that good business 

practices are upheld throughout 
our supply chain.
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Building Sustainable 
Communities

Clúid’s ability to support the creation of 
‘Sustainable Communities’ is built on 
the services we provide to our residents. 
We believe that safe and secure tenancies 
are the bedrock on which people can 
build neighbourhoods and communities 
together. Living in secure good quality 
housing brings with it the opportunity  
to work and to access education and 
training, as well as other services, and  
to improve overall quality of life.
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Clúid’s New Business Team oversee 
the supply and delivery of new homes 
for Clúid and our community of 
residents. They deliver large numbers 
of projects and homes every year and 
has been transforming lives for 27 
years by providing well maintained, 
high-quality housing, that people want 
to live in, where they want to live. 

The team of 29 staff has the 
scale and expertise to play a vital 
role in delivering the ambitious 
targets outlined in Housing for All, 
the government’s housing plan for 
Ireland. Under this plan, the largest 
ever building programme for social 
housing, the state aims to deliver over 
90,000 social homes by the end of 
2030, including an average new-build 
component of over 9,500 social homes 
each year.

It has never been more important
to understand housing demand. 
We work closely with our local 
authority partners and colleagues, 
so that we can build sustainable 
communities that will meet current 
needs and future demands. We 
believe that social and affordable 
housing is best provided for in mixed 
tenure schemes that provide choice to 
a wider range of people at different 

stages of their lives. The New Business 
Team is value driven, with a strong 
sense of social responsibility. We pride 
ourselves on our professionalism and 
our collaborative approach to working 
with our partners to deliver the best 
possible housing options for residents. 

We are committed to maintaining a 
development programme in a difficult 
external climate. We aim to deliver 
4,000 new homes by 2025, bringing 
our nationwide total to over 13,000 
homes. It is a priority for Clúid that 
these homes are designed and located 
in areas where people want to live. 

We have placed considerable 
emphasis on delivering quality homes
at scale. Last year, Clúid delivered an
average of 23 homes per scheme, up 
significantly on 2016 with an average 
of 3 homes per scheme.

In 2021 alone, Clúid delivered 968 
homes through a mix of Clúid’s 
innovative Developer Design and 
Build process, New Build Construction 
Turnkey and Clúid Design and Build. 
While 2021 saw the largest delivery 
in a single year, it is important to 
recognise that delivery was influenced 
by the Covid-19 restrictions and site 
closures throughout 2020 and 2021 

Supply and 
Delivery 
Clúid’s New 
Business Team
Our team of 29 people have the 
scale and expertise to play a vital 
role in delivering the ambitious 
targets outlined in Housing for All.

9,000
Clúid delivered its 
9,000th home in 2021.
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23
An average of  
23 homes delivered  
per scheme.

delayed many of our own construction 
projects. This was a challenging time 
for the team and our delivery partners, 
but by working closely with them 
we were able to get back to work, 
once sites reopened. 2022 will see 
significant delivery of Clúid controlled 
construction projects.

At Clúid, we are always thinking of 
new and improved ways of providing 
homes. Our New Business Team is 
constantly exploring more efficient 
ways of securing value for money in 
all aspects of the project journey. 
From procurement to handover, 
we continue to look for innovative 
solutions that add value for our 
customers and increase the delivery  
of homes.

We are excited about the Cost Rental 
model of housing delivery and what 
this means for the Irish property 
market. The delivery of the nation’s 
first Cost Rental homes in Balbriggan 
was a light bulb moment for us. The 
level of demand for these homes was 
confirmation of our belief in the need 
for them and proof that our planned
delivery of further Cost Rental homes 
in 2022 is the start of something 
truly exciting that will have a positive 
impact on the overall property market.

Climate change is one of the biggest 
challenges in the world today and 
we’re taking this very seriously. 

Our commitment is to empower 
our residents to live healthy lives 
in sustainable homes, with energy 
efficient designs that deliver 
homes that are cheaper to live in. 
We are committed to making our 
developments more environmentally 
sustainable by reducing energy use and 
carbon emissions, as well as reducing 
waste and encouraging biodiversity. 
We put a lot of effort as an organisation 
into understanding what our residents 
and people in similar circumstances 
want, and we translate that into our 
designs and specifications.

As a team, we have a great deal 
of knowledge and experience in 
managing construction projects and 
our quality and budget management 
speaks for itself. 

We have a lot of knowledge about the 
housing market, construction, costs 
and delivery of housing that we would 
like to share with policymakers. We 
want to work with them to develop 
solutions to overcome the challenges 
of delivering more homes in today’s 
challenging market.

Early in 2021, Clúid launched an updated Design Guide 
setting the industry standard in scheme design.
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2021 
Delivery
New Homes 
by County

 1-10
 11-20 
 21-30
 31-50
 51-260

In 2021, Clúid provided 968 
new homes and supported 
3,356 people in housing 
need across Ireland.

Dublin

256

Kerry

91
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8

Cork

28
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   89
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12
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206

Meath

77Westmeath

31

Wexford
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Clúid’s focus is on new build homes 
and our objective is to add new 
supply to the housing market. 
Working with our partners, we 
delivered 860 new build homes either 
as developer turnkey or our own  
Clúid controlled construction projects. 

At the end of December 
2021, Clúid was on site 
at 21 locations which will 
deliver 1,121 homes.

1,121

Property Acquisition

of the homes Clúid 
delivered in 2021  
were new build.

89%

93
Second-hand 
Acquisitions

3
Mortgage- 
to-Rent

725
Developer  
Turnkey63

Developer  
Design  
and Build

7
Clúid Design  
and Build

65
Cost Rental

12
Other

We only buy homes from the second-
hand market if there is a specific 
reason to do so such as to secure 
existing tenancies, mortgage-to-rent 
properties, or if we have a current 
resident with a specific need that we 
cannot provide for from our current 
housing stock.
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A new housing finance 
facility for Ireland. 
Blackbanks View was the first 
commercially funded social 
scheme in Ireland. Legal 
and General Investment 
Management (LGIM) 
partnered with Clúid to 
provide €54 million to fund 
the delivery of new social 
homes across the country.

Highlights

Funding 
Diversification
Blackbanks 
View

Residents 
110 

Total new homes 
40 

Project type 
Turnkey Acquisition

Location 
Dublin 

Local authority 
Dublin City Council

Cost: 

€19.5m 
Funding: 
Legal & General 

Total number of Clúid homes  
in Dublin City: 

1,120
Sustainability features: 

A-rated Building Energy  
Rating apartments
Intelligent controlled 
thermostat heating
Cutting-edge insulation technology
High efficiency centralised 
heating system
On demand hot water.
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Early in 2021, Clúid purchased 40 homes in 
Blackbanks View on the Howth Road from the 
Dublin Loft Company. The homes are a mix of one, 
two and three-bed apartments. They are located 
close to Raheny village, a busy North Dublin suburb 
that is within a short commute of Dublin city centre 
by road or public transport. This scheme provides 
much needed social homes in the area and gives 
security to many families and individuals.

Clúid Housing is committed to delivering good 
quality social housing and we are delighted 
to partner with Legal & General to deliver 
Blackbanks View in Dublin. This new financing 
facility provides a means for Clúid to scale up our 
ambitious targets and to deliver homes for the 
most vulnerable in our society.
Fiona Cormican, New Business Director, Clúid Housing
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Highlights

Cost Rental 
A New Housing 
Tenure for Ireland
Clúid was the first Approved 
Housing Body in Ireland to 
deliver Cost Rental homes.

Cost Rental Housing
Cost Rental housing is something 
that Clúid, along with others in the 
AHB sector and housing experts 
and academics, have been calling 
for over many years. We wanted to 
emulate the success of the Vienna 
model of housing, where a steady 
and significant stock of Cost Rental 
housing has been developed over the 
last century, providing high-quality, 
secure and affordable housing to 
individuals and families in areas where 
market prices make it very difficult for 
middle or lower income families to 
secure their own homes.

In Ireland, there is a cohort of middle-
income households that are not 
eligible for social housing, that are 
experiencing affordability issues in 
the private market. We wanted to 
address this aspect of our current 
housing crisis, by creating a long-
term, sustainable tenure to cater to 
their needs and to provide secure, 
affordable housing in perpetuity. 

We continued to engage with a range 
of stakeholders in developing the 
policy around Cost Rental housing 
in Ireland during 2021. These 
stakeholders included the Housing 
Agency, the Department of Housing,
Local Government and Heritage,
the Housing Finance Agency, the 
Housing Alliance and academics. This 
work was reflected in the Affordable 
Housing Act 2021, which was signed 
into law on 21 July 2021. We are proud 
of Clúid’s commitment to leading the 
way in policy development. We hope 
to continue informing and developing 
policy on the Cost Rental model 
of housing through our feedback, 
and deliver a long-term sustainable 
Cost Rental model into the future.

We continued to 
engage with a range of 
stakeholders in developing 
the policy around Cost 
Rental housing in Ireland 
during 2021. 
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Simon Brooke 
Lecture
The inaugural Simon Brooke lecture 
took place virtually in November 
2021. Simon, a former Head of Policy 
in Clúid, and a former Clúid board 
member, was a lifelong champion of 
social housing and a keen advocate for 
the exchange of knowledge and best 
practice internationally. 

Sadly, Simon passed away in 
November 2019. This lecture, 
organised by Clúid and some of 
Simon’s friends and former colleagues, 
was a celebration of his life and 
work. It featured addresses from 
Sinéad Gaughan, winner of the first 
Simon Brooke Award for her essay 
on the importance of international 
exchange of best practice and policy 
in social and affordable housing; 
Michelle Norris, Professor of Social 
Policy in UCD; and Gerard Van Bortel, 
Assistant Professor of Housing 
Management at the TU Delft Faculty of 
Architecture and the Built Environment 
in the Netherlands. There was also 
a tribute from Simon’s wife, Anna 
Heussaff, and Brian O’Gorman, Chief 

Executive of Clúid. It is hoped that 
the event will act as a springboard 
for future policy discussions over the 
coming years.

Simon led the way in the push for the 
introduction of Cost Rental housing, 
a step change in Irish housing policy. 
In 2021, Clúid was the first Approved 
Housing Body (AHB) in Ireland to 
deliver Cost Rental homes, an honour 
and a tribute to the memory of our 
dear friend and colleague. 

Simon led the way in the 
push for the introduction 
of Cost Rental housing, 
a step change in Irish 
housing policy.
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Today, for the first time, 
we are seeing truly mixed 
tenure communities, 
with distinct housing 
options, establishing 
themselves.

Clúid was proud to introduce Ireland’s first Cost Rental 
homes in July 2021, located at Taylor Hill in Dublin.

The scheme was developed by Glenveagh Homes 
and is located in Balbriggan, a coastal town in Fingal, 
approximately 34km north of Dublin City Centre, 27km 
south of Drogheda and 3 minutes from the M1 motorway. 
This scheme is a mix of private ownership, rental, social  
and Cost Rental homes.

This scheme of 25 new Cost Rental homes provides a mix  
of two, three and four-bedroom houses. Under the Cost 
Rental Scheme, rents for the homes are set at a minimum  
of 25% below open market values, with prices for the  
Taylor Hill homes starting at €935 per month – a value 
significantly below local market rates. The rents in Taylor  
Hill achieved a discount closer to 50% below market rents  
in the same estate.

Highlights

Ireland’s First 
Cost Rental 
Homes
Taylor Hill 

Residents 
88 

Total new homes 
25 

Project type 
Cost Rental 
Turnkey Acquisition

Location 
Dublin 

Local authority 
Fingal County Council

Cost: 

€8.2m 
Funding: 
Cost Rental Equity Loan (CREL)

Total number of Clúid homes  
in Fingal: 

383
Sustainability features: 

A-rated Building Energy  
Rating homes
Highly efficient combi boilers
On demand hot water
Photovoltaic (PV) panels
Demand Control Ventilation (DCV).
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Clúid’s vision is a society where everyone has a great 
place to live. 

To achieve our vision, we know that we need to be an 
innovative organisation. We are very grateful for the 
opportunity to deliver these first Cost Rental homes, 
in partnership with the Department of Housing, Local 
Government and Heritage, the Housing Agency, the 
Housing Finance Agency, Fingal County Council and 
Glenveagh Homes. 

Today, for the first time, we are seeing truly mixed 
tenure communities, with distinct housing options, 
establishing themselves. Here in Balbriggan, we now 
see Cost Rental, private, and social homes all together 
in this high-quality development. 

Fiona Cormican, New Business Director, Clúid Housing
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Clann, a division of Clúid Housing, 
is committed to providing age-friendly, 
independent housing and services for 
people over the age of 55 in housing 
need, all over Ireland. By 2030, 20% of 
the population will be over 65 and 
by 2050, there will be one million 
people over the age of 65. Clann’s 
primary goal is to support residents 
to continue living independently in 
their own homes and communities 
for as long as possible. Now is the 
time to act to prepare for our ageing 
population and have the necessary 
supports in place.

Each Clann project has a Scheme 
Manager, who supports residents by 
signposting and assisting with access 
to health, community support and 
other services in the area. We know 
that loneliness and a sense of 
disconnection from the community 
can have a negative impact on a 
person’s health.

Clann provides people with not 
just homes, but the support 
needed to stay connected and stay 
involved in the community, while, 
most importantly, maintaining 
independence and self-determination.

Collaborative 
Partnerships 
Clann recognises that the key to 
successfully supporting residents 
to live a full life is to establish new 
collaborative partnerships with 
existing community support groups 
and charities. Working in partnership 
with others means that we can provide 
a wider range of supports, so that 
residents can live independent and full 
lives, where they can have meaningful 
roles in their community, sharing their 
wealth of skills and experience.

Clann Scheme Managers work 
in partnership with Age and 
Opportunity, to enable residents to 
be more active, visible, creative, and 
connected and maintain the best 
quality of life. Clann has successfully 
obtained funding under the national 
grants scheme for Sports and Physical 
Activity for Older People, run by 
Age and Opportunity, to encourage 
participation in yoga, walking, dance 
and Tai Chi.

Highlights

Clann Supports 
Independent Living 
Across Ireland
Clann is currently delivering the 
largest age-friendly, social housing 
development programme in Ireland.

800+
Clann now manages over 
800 age-friendly homes 
for people over 55.
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From time to time, as their needs 
change, residents require the support 
of other agencies and community 
support services. Sage Advocacy is a 
key partner for Clann. Sage provides 
age-friendly support and advocacy 
services for people who feel they need 
assistance with various tasks and help 
with service providers. Sage Advocacy 
Officers provide invaluable help to 
Clann residents at times when their 
independence is challenged.

Information 
and Training
In 2021, Clann started working with 
the Alzheimer Society of Ireland 
(ASI), to provide information sessions 
and training for all Clann staff. 
Several Scheme Managers worked 
locally with ASI in Cork and Kerry to 
set up dementia support days, using 
Clann community spaces. These 
communal spaces will be available to 
residents and to the wider community.

ALONE, a charity set-up to highlight 
the issues facing older people, helped 
residents to stay connected to family 
and friends, while they were cocooning 
at home during the pandemic. They 
generously provided smartphones to 
help them to overcome the struggles 
of isolation.

Scheme Managers set up classes to 
provide basic training on smartphones 
and tablets for our ‘Golden Surfers’. 
Residents found the training to be a 
tremendous help during the difficult 
periods of isolation and separation 
from their loved ones.

To build on this success, Clann’s 
Dublin schemes are preparing a 
‘Go Digital’ programme, with almost 
€10,000 in funding from the Housing 
Finance Agency’s Social Investment 
Fund. This financial support will go 
a long way to delivering a tailored 
digital inclusion training programme 
for older residents.

Future Focus
Clann is currently delivering the 
largest age-friendly, social housing 
development programme in Ireland,
with several schemes coming into
management in 2022. These new 
schemes will deliver over 220 new 
age-friendly homes for people over 
55 across counties Laois, Galway, 
Dublin and Limerick. Clann’s aim is 
to have a presence across Ireland, 
giving individuals the opportunity to 
remain living independently in their 
communities as they age.

Clann plans to be a key player in the 
delivery of age-friendly housing into 
the future. Along with its objective to 
provide housing for people as they 
age, Clann recognises and promotes 
the health benefits of independent 
living, with the appropriate supports.
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Highlights

Quality  
Age-Friendly 
Housing and 
Services
Maydenhayes  
Lawn

These homes were the final phase to be completed in 
the scheme, where 200 homes had already been sold 
privately. The scheme delivers mixed tenure housing in 
a location that provides access to essential services and 
public transport links. 

These new homes are managed by Clann, providing age-
friendly housing that is distinct from traditional sheltered 
housing for older people. A key objective for Clann is 
to enable people to live independently for as long as 
possible and to maintain the connection they have with 
their community. Maydenhayes supports independent 
living by ensuring the accessibility and adaptability of a 
dwelling as a person’s circumstances change.

Residents 
15 

Total new homes 
12 

Project type
Turnkey Acquisition

Location
Meath 

Local authority
Meath City Council

Cost: 

€2.9m 
Funding: 
The Housing Finance Agency 

Total number of homes  
in Meath County Council: 

378
Sustainability features: 

A-rated Building Energy  
Rating homes
Air-to-water heating system
A-Class air-sourced heat pump 
Cutting-edge insulation technology.

In September 2021,  
Clúid purchased 12 two-
bedroom bungalows from 
Mornington Homes in 
Maydenhayes, Mornington, 
Meath. Mornington is a 
coastal village 5km from  
the centre of Drogheda. 
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 The need for age-friendly housing 
already exists in Ireland and will 
continue to grow. Our communities 
need a suite of housing options to 
support individuals as they age, 
and Clann’s service offering is 
central to that.

Aoife Flynn Kennedy, Head of Clann
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The National Residents’ Advisory 
Group (NRAG) and the Clann 
Residents’ Advisory Group (CRAG) 
were established in 2020. This was a 
first for Clúid and we were proud to 
see both groups going from strength 
to strength in 2021. The guiding 
principle of our work with the groups 
is that of partnership. The voices and 
the perspectives of our residents are 
incorporated into all our developments 
and plans. We are proud to be 
collaborating in this way, to shape Clúid 
policy and processes, with the input 
and recommendations of both groups.

Collaboration 
During the Covid-19 restrictions
in 2021, meetings were facilitated 
online using video conferencing. 
Despite the restrictions, the NRAG 
held eight meetings last year, 
with approximately 13 people in 
attendance at each meeting. The 
meetings were facilitated by Clúid’s 
Resident Engagement Coordinator 
and the NRAG chairperson Deborah, 
a resident in Carlow. Group 
members had the opportunity to 

provide updates on projects and 
share their experiences. This had a 
positive impact on the work of our 
departments and projects across the 
organisation. 

In April 2021, two members of the 
NRAG presented at Clúid’s National
Conference. They spoke about their 
work to date, with particular focus on 
sustainability. It was a significant step
for the NRAG to address the 
conference and the whole 
organisation. It raised their profile
and clearly demonstrated the positive
impact of including the voices of our
residents in our work and planning.

Sustainability 
During 2021, the NRAG and CRAG 
sustainability subgroup was active in
producing peer-led education. They 
wrote numerous articles, providing 
updates on local community projects 
and carried out interviews for the 
‘Sustainability Matters’ section of  
the residents’ newsletters and the 
cluid.ie website. 

Highlights

Working 
Together - 
The Residents’ 
Advisory Group
Collaboration is the guiding 
principle of our residents 
advisory groups. The voices and 
perspectives of residents are 
incorporated into all of our work.

8
Eight video 
conferencing  
meetings in 2021.

 The NRAG was 
shortlisted for the
Allianz ICSH Public 
Choice Awards 
in 2021 and won 
in the Housing 
Management 
category. 
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Members of the subgroup have been 
championing projects in their own 
estates and creating a sustainability 
network. Sleaty Park in Carlow, which 
is home to the NRAG Chairperson, 
Deborah Kearney, facilitated a visit 
from another scheme in Tipperary 
during the summer of 2021, with the 
aim of sharing knowledge. This gave 
both schemes the chance to share 
ideas and to build relationships.  
The visit was hugely influential in the 
development of a new biodiversity 
project in Tipperary.

Issues of Importance 
The purpose of the NRAG is “to use 
our voice, as residents of Clúid 
with lived experience, to make 
recommendations to Clúid on issues 
of national importance that make a 
difference locally”. The finding from 
our customer satisfaction survey in 
2021, that tackling stigma and Anti-
Social Behaviour (ASB) is a common 
goal for residents, was echoed by  
the NRAG.

The ASB working group of the NRAG 
assisted Clúid in a review of our ASB 
policy and procedures during 2021. 
They provided feedback from the 
perspective of the resident, using their 
lived experiences. Members also 
met Clúid’s ASB improvement 
group, in order to gain a greater 
understanding of the challenges and 
processes. This invaluable feedback 
has helped to identify improvements 
and additional procedures to support 
residents to deal with potential ASB 
incidents. It will be incorporated into 
the Housing Services Workplan for 
2022 and will help Clúid to create a 
more sustainable environment for 
residents across Ireland.

A Great Place to Live 
The NRAG was shortlisted for the
Allianz ICSH Public Choice Awards 
in 2021 and won in the Housing 
Management category. The NRAG 
chairperson, Deborah, stated that: 
“As a group we decided it would be 
a positive experience for everyone 
involved, working in partnership with 

Clúid to give feedback on any changes 
or improvements regarding Clúid’s 
policies, practices etc. The NRAG has 
a national agenda that considers 
the lived experiences of all Clúid 
residents and strives to make our Clúid 
community a truly great place to live”. 
This was a huge achievement for the 
NRAG who have achieved so much in 
two short years.

In the coming years, both the NRAG 
and the CRAG hope to recruit 
more members and to work with 
the Community Action Network to 
continue to develop the groups’ 
purpose. Areas of interest for the 
future include: 

 » The launch of the Resident 
Engagement Strategy 

 » The role of the Housing Officer
 » Tenancy sustainment 
 » Further work on sustainability.

For more information about our 
residents’ advisory groups, visit  
www.cluid.ie or speak to your housing 
officer or scheme manager.
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Highlights

Collaborating 
with Residents
This multi-faceted Resident 
Engagement Strategy sets the 
direction for our internal and external 
activities. The strong voice of our 
residents informs and improves our 
services, strengthens communities, 
and feeds into Clúid’s governance 
and management processes. 

Resident 
Engagement 
Strategy
Clúid recognises that resident 
engagement and community 
development practices are 
instrumental in enabling residents to 
influence and collectively take action 
to build sustainable communities and 
improve our services.

Resident engagement has been a 
feature of Clúid’s work for many years, 
through a combination of initiatives 
such as:

 » Resident surveys, using a 
customer service-led framework

 » Focus groups
 » Research projects
 » Measuring resident demand
 » Targeted feedback on 

change projects
 » The ‘Great Places to Live’ 

competition 
 » Resident Advisory Groups. 

At a local level, residents get involved 
with and provide leadership on 
activities in their own communities. 
They take part in regeneration 
projects, community sustainability 
and environmental works and events 
that contribute to the social life 
and wellbeing of residents in their 
neighbourhoods. 

As a large national landlord,
we recognise the need to put
resident engagement on a more
structured footing and to develop  
new forms of engagement. In 2021,  
we worked with TPAS, a leading tenant 
engagement organisation, to assist us 
in developing our understanding of and 
the potential of Resident Engagement. 
We also worked with residents, the 
board and staff to co-create our first 
Resident Engagement Strategy.

This multi-faceted Resident 
Engagement Strategy sets the 
direction for our internal and external 
activities, ensuring a strong resident 
voice. The strategy informs and 
improves our services, strengthens 

communities and feeds into Clúid’s 
governance and management 
processes. It is not intended as the 
final word or a fixed statement on 
Clúid’s work on resident engagement. 
Rather it is the beginning of an 
ambitious, evolving resident 
engagement mindset, which is helping 
us to build a better Clúid. Ultimately, 
the strategy will strengthen the 
organisation and safeguard Clúid into 
the future.

The strategy was completed at the end 
of 2021 and will be formally launched 
in 2022. A new Resident Engagement 
Manager and a dedicated coordinator 
will be working with our board, 
residents and staff, to develop our 
practices in this area and increase the 
involvement of residents.
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Tenancy 
Sustainment 
Clúid wants to support residents to 
overcome any difficulties that life 
may throw up and empower people 
to improve their circumstances and 
wellbeing, so that they can sustain 
their tenancy and live full lives. 
We recognise that engaging with and 
supporting residents who may be 
struggling to sustain tenancies, is a key 
function of the Housing Services team. 
We have found, through consultation 
and data trend analysis, that Clúid and 
Clann’s frontline staff are regularly
engaged with residents in this work. 

In April 2021, Clúid’s management 
team developed a new Tenancy 
Sustainment Coordinator role. This new 
position was created to support the 
work of Housing Officers and Scheme 
Managers to be more effective in this 
important area of work and to develop 
new partnerships to support residents. 

Throughout 2021, the Tenancy 
Sustainment Coordinator oversaw the 
approval of the first ever Clúid tenancy 
sustainment policy and procedure and 
the delivery of in-house training to all 
frontline staff across both Clúid and 
Clann housing services. 

There were 193 cases and enquiries
to the newly established Help Desk
between May and December. Our aim 
is to provide a more consistent and 
coordinated approach to engaging
with residents who need support and, 
if necessary, signpost them to specialist 
services in their local communities. 
 
Tenancy sustainment created a 
new national directory of services, 
providing:

 » Information to all frontline housing 
services staff about statutory and 
community specialist services

 » Guidance on how to access 
these services

 » Helpline numbers 
 » Direction on how to signpost 

residents with issues and 
problems, as appropriate. 

Clúid established closer and 
more effective relationships with 
services such as: the Money Advice 
and Budgeting Service (MABS), 

193
Cases and enquiries to 
the newly established 
Help Desk between 
May and December.

mental health services, welfare 
services and services for people who 
are unemployed; as well as disability 
services and services specifically for 
older people. 

In collaboration with the Housing 
Alliance, Clúid established a tenancy 
sustainment network. This new 
network comes together to discuss 
best practice, to share information 
and ideas and to collaborate on policy 
matters. As we develop the role of
this network, analysing and reporting
on trends, we can further tailor our 
approach and resources.

The year ahead will see the rollout of 
further training for housing services 
staff, while specialist support will 
increase the skills and capacity of the 
team in this complex area of work. 

We plan to develop a support services 
page for our residents on the Clúid 
and Clann websites. This will give 
information on the national support 
services and agencies that can provide 
the necessary guidance and support to 
help sustain tenancies. 
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Financial Inclusion 
among Social 
Housing Tenants 
Clúid, in partnership with the Housing 
Finance Agency (HFA), was proud to 
launch a research report on financial 
inclusion for Clúid residents in June. 
The report, entitled Financial Inclusion 
among Social Housing Tenants, 
was officially launched by the Minister 
for Finance, Paschal Donohoe TD. 
 
The research was undertaken by the 
Centre for Co-operative Studies and 
the Financial Services Innovation 

Centre at University College Cork 
(UCC). The aim of the research was 
to explore the current status of low-
income social housing residents in 
Ireland, in terms of their access to 
and use of financial services, with a 
particular focus on savings and credit.
The research found that one in 
eight residents did not have a bank, 
credit union or post office account, 
while levels of insurance cover 
were extremely low, with 90% of 
respondents living without home 
contents insurance and 84% without  
life assurance. Women were more likely 
to be financially excluded than men.

Highlights

Thought 
Leadership
Reports
Clúid was delighted to launch a number 
of research publications in 2021. This 
research, in support of our vision to create 
a society where everyone has a great place 
to live, was carried out with the objective 
of building sustainable communities by 
providing secure, high-quality, affordable 
housing and services that enable people to 
create homes and thriving communities. 
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Olive McCarthy, Mary Faherty, 
Noreen Byrne & Fergal Carton

Financial Inclusion 
Among Social  
Housing Tenants 

An Ghníomhaireacht 
Airgeadais Tithíochta
Housing Finance AgencyHFA

90%
Living without home  
contents insurance.

See more  
Tenancy Sustainment Section
Page 39

Recommendations from  
the report include:

 » Increasing the income base  
and reducing the cost base  
for residents. 

 This could include a review 
of issues relating to rental 
payments and initiatives, such 
as Universal Basic Income and 
the provision of advice on 
education, employment and 
social welfare payments

 » Promoting financial inclusion 
with appropriately designed 
financial services. 

 Financial services need to 
take into account the lived 
experiences of low-income 
consumers

 » Building the financial  
capability of residents. 

 Data driven methods and  
skills should be promoted, 
to allow both residents and 
their support groups to better 
understand spending, saving  
and borrowing behaviours

 » Enabling a supportive context 
within housing estates. 

 This could be achieved 
by developing active and 
participative resident 
committees.

This research would not have been 
possible without the contribution 
of 154 Clúid residents. By sharing 
their stories with the research team, 
they provided important insights  
and personal experiences on the 
financial difficulties and concerns  
they face every day. 

12.5%
did not have a bank, 
credit union or post 
office account.

84%
Living without 
life assurance.
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Ireland’s 
Rental Sector
In April, Clúid launched a research 
report: Towards a Sustainable Rental 
Sector in Ireland: Understanding the 
Key Challenges and Opportunities. 
The report focuses on improving the 
sustainability and attractiveness of 
the rental sector in Ireland and was 
developed in partnership with Irish 
Institutional Property (IIP) and KPMG 
Future Analytics. Minister for Housing, 
Local Government and Heritage, 
Darragh O’Brien TD, launched the 
report at an online event.

The research looks at the contribution 
of the different providers within 
the sector, including non-profit 
organisations, such as Clúid and 
local authorities; as well as large 
institutional landlords, such as those 
represented by IIP and smaller 
landlords. It explores the interface 
between them and reviews how 
they each contribute to the wider 
landscape and the evolving needs of 
the market. The research also looks at 
the demographic, socio-economic and 
spatial factors affecting supply and 
demand within the sector.

Highlights

Thought 
Leadership
Reports 

Towards a 
sustainable 
rental sector 
in Ireland
Understanding the 
Key Challenges and 
Opportunities

Prepared by:

April 2021

Key recommendations include:

 » Scaling up the government’s 
Cost Rental scheme

 » Acknowledging and 
resourcing AHBs in the 
roll-out of the Cost Rental 
Scheme

 » Incentivising smaller  
scale landlords

 » Achieving a more certain 
regulatory environment

 » A review of the Housing 
Assistance Payment  
(HAP) Scheme

 » Enhanced delivery of 
apartment stock

 » Recognising new and 
emerging housing  
demand drivers

 » Addressing viability 
challenges.

This report helps to inform our 
work in the area of government 
policy and practice on the rental 
sector and our work as one of 
Ireland’s leading Approved 
Housing Bodies.
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Planning and 
Development 
The report, Planning Gain and 
Obligation: Promise and Performance 
of Part V was launched in September. 
The report was compiled by Declan 
Redmond (Associate Professor, 
UCD), Mel Reynolds (Architect) 
and Orla Hegarty (Architect and 
Assistant Professor, UCD) as part 
of Clúid’s Adrian Norridge Research 
Bursary. It focuses on Part V of the 
Planning and Development Act 
2000. In particular, it examines the 
effectiveness of this ‘planning gain’ 
measure in delivering social homes 
and how it has operated since the 
major reforms, introduced as part 
of the Urban Regeneration and 
Housing Act 2015.

September 2021

Planning Gain  
and Obligations:
Promise and 
Performance 
of Part V

Declan Redmond
Orla Hegarty
Mel Reynolds

Key recommendations include:

 » Increasing the yield to 20%
 » Strengthening the role  

of AHBs
 » Applying Part V to  

Cost Rental housing
 » Standardising costs
 » Improving the efficiency 

and effectiveness of Part 
V, through due diligence; 
improving process issues; 
establishing shared services; 
transparency and certainty; 
and standardisation and 
quality control

 » Zoning land solely for social 
and affordable housing

 » Improving the knowledge 
base, by publishing information 
on Existing Use Value and 
Market Value from a variety 
of sites and establishing a 
database that disaggregates 
construction costs.

The report is intended to support 
our work on policy and practice with 
government and local authorities. 
We will work with local authorities, 
the Housing Agency, the Department 
of Housing, Local Government and 
Heritage and others, to seek to 
implement the recommendations 
of the report. 

Part V yield was increased to 
20% under the government plan, 
Housing for All, published just prior 
to the launch of this report.
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Build Green
Target
All new Clúid homes to be net 
zero operational carbon and built 
with 40% less embodied carbon, 
while the retrofitting of existing 
homes will adhere to a minimum 
BER rating of B2

Update
Embodied Carbon
Clúid is collaborating with 
Technical University (TU) Dublin to 
research and measure the baseline 
embodied carbon in our Design and 
Build properties. 

Clúid is developing an innovative 
partnership, to explore how we can 
work with developers to reduce the 
embodied carbon in our new builds 
and improve lean processes and 
construction waste management. 

Retrofit 
By the end of 2021, we had completed 
retrofit works (to a B2 energy rating) 
on 1,047 properties, at a total cost 
of €13.8m. €7.5m of this was directly 
funded by Clúid, with the remaining 
amount funded by the Sustainable 
Energy Authority of Ireland (SEAI). 

Our retrofit works in 2020 and 2021 
resulted in a reduction of over 13.5 
metric tonnes of CO2. We have 
committed to a national three-year 
contract, which came into operation 
in 2021, with one retrofit contractor, 
Retrofit Energy Ireland Ltd (REIL). 

Highlights

Homes that don’t 
Cost the Earth 

2030 
Goals and Progress

As sustainability is very important 
to us, we have been working 
on improving our operational 
environmental impact over the last 
number of years. 

Clúid’s Energy and Environmental 
Manager has been working across  
the organisation to deliver the initial
stage of the three-year action plan,
alongside Clúid’s Greening Strategy
which was signed off by the board
in early 2021. Developing links with
external stakeholders who will work
with us is a key step on this journey.

Clúid recognises that, as an 
organisation, we can make 
a significant contribution 
towards supporting 
Ireland’s climate goals. 
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Live Green
Target
100% of residents of Clúid to 
be empowered to live more 
sustainable lives

Update
The Clúid and Clann Residents 
Advisory Groups created a 
sustainability subgroup that has 
been instrumental in delivering the 
Live Green pillar of the Greening 
Strategy. We deliver regular updates 
on sustainable practices and guidance 
to residents on the Clúid and 
Clann websites and in our resident  
newsletters. 

Our Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM) database can 
now capture progress and data on 
biodiversity and sustainability projects.
Clúid has partnered with the National 
Biodiversity Centre to create 
biodiversity guides for both new and 
existing housing estates. We also 
began a partnership with the charity 
Trees on the Land, who provided 
1,000 native Irish trees for various 
biodiversity projects.
 
In 2021, Clúid launched a biodiversity
grant for new estates and we are now 
seeing some great projects
underway. 

We delivered biodiversity education
workshops and resources for both our
staff and residents throughout 2021.

Be Green
Target
Clúid’s own operations to be  
net zero emissions

Update
Waste management
Clúid has made great progress this 
year on putting measures in place 
to improve waste management and 
reduce landfill waste.

We signed a new national waste 
contract with Panda Waste at the end 
of 2020. As a result of this partnership, 
we are now receiving monthly statistics 
and reports, giving details on our 
waste management performance and 
recycling rates. We have been working 
with Panda Waste to progress the 
roll out of communal organic waste 
collection at our schemes.

We received funding and support 
from the Regional Waste Management 
Office for a project to help raise 
waste management awareness and 
influence positive behaviour change. 
This funding of approximately €20,000 
supported the design and distribution 
of waste segregation fridge magnets 
and infographics to all residents.
 

In tandem with these measures, we are 
working with our residents to inform 
and engage them on proper waste 
management to improve their waste 
management behaviour.

Nationally, recycling achieved a rate of
38% in 2018, the latest year available.
Clúid is working hard to improve
on the 25% average recycling rates
achieved in our schemes in 2021.
 
Grounds maintenance 
We began a new national grounds 
maintenance contract in July, 
with a strong focus on improving 
environmental practices, reducing 
the use of chemicals on site and 
introducing measures to enhance 
biodiversity.

We are working with our residents and 
staff, providing biodiversity education 
and encouraging them to get involved 
with this important work.

We trialled electric vehicles (EVs) 
with positive results and installed 
EV charge points at two of our 
office locations. We now plan to 
roll out further EVs to staff with 
company vehicles. 
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Leading the Way
Clúid’s work in delivering our Greening 
Strategy has already gained the 
attention of a number of the country’s 
environmental stakeholders and 
organisations, as well as universities. 
Our sustainability and environmental 
work and plans are being recognised 
as cutting edge in the AHB sector. 

We recognise that our success in this
area can be attributed to the strong 
levels of collaboration with our many 
partners, stakeholders, organisations 
and academic institutions. We would 
like to take this opportunity to 
recognise these organisations.

Funding and Support

 » SEAI – Retrofit

 » SEAI/ESB – Electric Vehicles

 » European Federation for Living

 » Regional Waste Management Office

 » National Biodiversity Centre

 » Development Perspectives

 » Trees on the Land

 » Green Ribbon (Dublin City Council)

 » Irish Water and Clean Coasts

 » Irish Green Building Council

 » EnergyCloud.

Research and Steering Groups

 » University College Dublin

 » The National University of Ireland Galway

 » Healthy Homes Ireland Steering Group

 » Technical University Dublin

 » Technical University of the Shannon 

 » The National Residents Advisory Group and  
Clann Residents Advisory Group.
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Highlights

EnergyCloud 
Clúid Partners with EnergyCloud 

EnergyCloud is a not-for-profit 
organisation, established to 
contribute to the resolution of two 
problems: fuel poverty and the 
wasting of the excess electricity 
generated by our wind farms when 
supply exceeds demand.

During 2021, €300m of electricity
was wasted due to supply exceeding 
demand. At the same time, more 
than 450,000 families in Ireland were 
living in fuel poverty. To tackle this 
issue, EnergyCloud is establishing the 
mechanisms by which excess energy 
can be supplied, potentially free of 
charge but certainly at a vastly reduced 
rate to those living in fuel poverty. 

The directors of EnergyCloud include 
representatives from TU Dublin, 
Wind Energy Ireland, ESB Group, 
SSE Airtricity, EirGrid Group, Instictif 
Partners, Kingspan, climote and Clúid. 
The board is chaired by Gabriel D’Arcy, 
former CEO of Kerry Foods and of 
Bord Na Móna. These organisations 

make up the ‘chain’ from wind farm to 
social home. Together they have the 
necessary knowledge, experience, 
resources and influence to deliver on 
their objectives.

The electrical batteries that would 
be needed to store the electricity do 
not currently exist and would require 
huge investment to build. However, 
nearly every home in Ireland has an 
existing ‘battery’ in the form of a hot 
water tank. Every tank is connected to 
every wind farm through the existing 
grid. Therefore, no investment in 
infrastructure is required. All that is 
needed is a smart switch, which allows 
the wind farms to turn on immersion 
heaters and create demand.

€300m
of electricity was 
wasted due to supply 
exceeding demand.
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Fifty of these switches are being 
installed in Clúid homes in Phase I of 
the roll out. Phase II could involve the 
installation of switches in all of Clúid’s 
suitable properties. The mechanism 
has already been tested on the initial 
installations. The smart switches were 
turned on remotely, with a visual of 
the amount of hot water in the tank 
available for residents on the smart 
switch screen. This clearly shows the 
amount of hot water in the tank.

EnergyCloud has been very well
received and the value of the
innovation is being recognised in the 
public and political domain. In April 
2021, Minister for Housing, Local 
Government, and Heritage, Darragh 
O’Brien, attended the installation 
of the first smart switch into a Clúid 
home. It is hoped that this support 
will facilitate a rapid roll out within 
Clúid and throughout the wider social 
housing portfolio.

450,000
families in Ireland 
were living in 
fuel poverty.

In April 2021, Minister for Housing, 
Local Government, and Heritage, 
Darragh O’Brien, attended the 
installation of the first smart switch 
into a Clúid home. It is hoped that 
this support will facilitate a rapid roll 
out within Clúid and throughout the 
wider social housing portfolio.
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Improving our Services 

Clúid is proud of its track record in 
customer-centred and customer driven 
service provision. At the heart of this 
work is a clear focus on sustainable 
practices to ensure the efficient and 
effective use of Clúid’s resources.
Clúid continued to provide a high 
level of service throughout 2021. This 
achievement is only possible through 
a joint commitment to cooperation 
between residents and staff. Clúid has 
made substantial progress across a 
whole range of areas in 2021. 
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Staff experience ultimately impacts 
on the resident experience, and we 
believe investing in our staff will 
lead to better service and improved 
outcomes for our residents.

Wellbeing
The Wellbeing Committee organised 
13 webinars for staff, covering a wide 
variety of wellbeing topics, including 
sleep, nutrition and mindfulness. Staff 
were encouraged to take time out 
to attend the sessions and to place 
a focus on connection and on their 
physical and mental wellbeing.

Staff Conference
In April, Clúid organised its first 
virtual staff conference, partnering 
with CrowdComms, an online events 
provider, to create a dedicated Clúid 
branded platform to encourage staff 
interaction. As well as hosting a range 
of interesting presentations on the 
conference theme of sustainability, 
one of the big priorities for the 

conference planning team was for staff 
to have fun and engage with each 
other. The planning team organised a 
series of virtual games and other forms 
of interaction. Staff feedback was 
very positive, with staff reporting that 
the conference had helped them to 
reconnect with their colleagues from 
other departments. Newer members 
of the Clúid team felt that the 
conference had given them a strong 
sense of the fun and the caring side of 
Clúid’s culture, as well as providing an 
opportunity to connect to the Clúid 
ethos of ‘One Team, One Mission, 
One Goal’.

‘Clúid Live’
Supplementing the virtual conference, 
four virtual events were organised in 
2021 for members of the executive 
team to speak to all staff about a 
variety of topics. The events provided 
an opportunity for staff to hear directly 
from Clúid’s leadership team on a 
range of topics and to hear the results 
of the annual ‘Great Person to Work 
with Award’ and the ‘Values Awards’ 
at the December ‘Live’ Event.

One Team, 
One Mission, 
One Goal
With staff continuing to work from 
home and in other dispersed 
locations in 2021, Clúid continued to 
put a strong emphasis on wellbeing 
and engagement activities to help 
us to feel connected to each other 
and to our vision. 
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A New Direction 
for Communications
In 2020, Clúid commissioned 
an independent review of the 
Communications Department. 
The review proposed a number of 
strategic recommendations to the 
management team. These included 
recommendations on the structure, 
orientation and direction of the 
department. 

A new Head of Communication role 
was created and an appointment 
was made to this role in 2021. 
The Communications and Policy 
Departments were merged, to enable 
greater collaboration on Clúid’s 
vision for the AHB sector. A new 
communication strategy is currently 
being developed.

Culture and Reputation
At the end of 2021, it was agreed to set 
up a Culture and Reputation Committee 
to assist Clúid in its stewardship and 
oversight of the organisation’s culture 
and reputation. The committee will 
advise and consult with its members 
on the impact the People and Culture 
Strategy and the Communication 
Strategy will have on maintaining and 
enhancing Clúid’s internal and external 
culture and reputation. The committee 
will also monitor and mitigate any 
threats or challenges to Clúid’s culture 
and reputation.

Clúid has always valued and promoted 
a positive workplace culture. 
Throughout the pandemic, our culture 
helped us to stay connected to each 
other and to Clúid’s mission. It is a 
testament to all our colleagues, who 
help to make Clúid a great place to 
work, that we won the ‘Promoting a 
Positive Workplace Culture’ Inspire 
Award in November 2021.

Culture Statement 
After extensive consultation with 
staff and an audit of Clúid’s work on 
culture, a report, Let’s Talk Culture! 
was published at the end of 2021.  
The report proposes a Culture 
Statement and practical approaches 
to continuing our support of a 
positive culture at Clúid. Our Culture
Statement encapsulates the way in
which we work at Clúid.

Here at Clúid, people 
feel empowered to make 
a difference and are 
trusted to take risks and 
feel supported to admit 
mistakes. We understand 
that it is in rising to such 
challenges that we can 
learn and continually 
improve. Our strength is 
in the wide range of skills 
we each bring to Clúid, and 
we celebrate that diversity 
and innovation. We listen 
to, collaborate with and 
care about each other. 

We aim to put our 
residents front and centre 
in our work and we value 
the contributions they 
make to the development 
of our services. Our 
philosophy of ‘We’re All 
Clúid’ embodies the true 
spirit of collaboration 
amongst staff, Board and 
our strong partnership 
with our residents.

Annual Report 2021



Clúid Housing

People and 
Culture Strategy
2021 saw the development of 
a People and Culture Strategy, 
outlining how Clúid’s desired levels 
of growth will be achieved, while we 
sustain our high levels of service and 
our values-led culture.

People and Culture
2021 saw the development of a 
People and Culture Strategy, outlining 
how Clúid’s desired levels of growth 
will be achieved, while we sustain our 
high levels of service and our values-
led culture. 

The vision of the strategy is that Clúid 
is an organisation where everyone 
has a ‘great place to work’ and 
people are enabled to reach their 
full potential, both individually and 
collectively. Demonstrating the value 

of culture in Clúid, the HR Department 
was renamed the People and 
Culture Department. 

The People and Culture Strategy 
contains four strategic pillars, 
each underpinned by Clúid’s current 
People Processes: our four values of 
leadership, caring, responsibility and 
collaboration and the overall company 
vision and mission.

The four strategic pillars of the 
strategy are listed on page 55.

Clúid was thrilled to win in 
the category ‘Promoting a 
Positive Wellbeing Culture’ 
at the Inspire Workplace 
Wellbeing Awards 2021.
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These strategic pillars are supported 
by Clúid’s People Processes:

 » Organisational design, 
workforce planning, recruitment 
and induction

 » Employee engagement
 » Managing and supporting 

performance
 » Learning and development
 » Reward and recognition
 » Employee wellbeing.

Clúid’s vision is a society where 
everyone has a great place to live. 

The People and Culture Strategy 
supports that vision, by ensuring 
that Clúid is an organisation where 
everyone has a great place to work. 

Feel inspired
Leaders at all levels work 
together towards a shared 
purpose, sustaining a caring and 
compassionate culture, nurturing 
talent and inspiring innovation 
and excellence, throughout 
the organisation.

Feel connected
Employees have a strong 
sense of connection to the 
organisation, take personal 
responsibility for achieving 
better outcomes and support 
colleagues to deliver results.

Feel valued
Employees work in a safe 
environment that fosters 
open communication, focuses 
on wellbeing, encourages 
people to be and do their 
best and offers a supportive 
environment at all times.

Feel empowered
Employees are clear about 
their roles, relationships, 
reporting and professional 
responsibilities so they can 
maximise performance to 
meet objectives.

Annual Report 2021



Clúid Housing

Clúid’s Diversity and Inclusion (D&I) 
Working Group was set up in 2021, 
with representatives from across the 
organisation. For many years, Clúid 
has been promoting diversity and 
inclusion, through various initiatives. 
The establishment of the D&I Working 
Group will formalise and promote 
these types of initiatives through a 
dedicated D&I Strategy. 

Clúid’s staff body is made up of 
many nationalities and we celebrate 
the culture and traditions of our 
colleagues by hosting national days of 
recognition. We have celebrated 17 
nationalities by hosting national days 
for the various countries represented 
in Clúid. Nine of these national days 
were held in-person and the remaining 
eight were virtual. The in person 
events were hosted in our head 
office on Upper Sheriff Street. Events 
included a visual display showcasing 
national flags and information 
to communicate the history and 
traditions of each country, including 
music, videos and recipes. Colleagues 
also had an opportunity to enjoy each 
countries’ national dish.

In June, we celebrate Pride,
creating staff profiles to tell
the community’s personal lived
experience, allowing colleagues to 
hear first-hand from our LGBTQ+ 

friends in the office. We host 
Pride events to create visibility 
and awareness of the barriers 
and obstacles faced by LGBTQ+ 
colleagues. Offices are decorated 
with balloons and the rainbow flag, 
a symbol of lesbian, gay, bisexual, 
transgender (LGBT) and queer pride 
and we highlight LGBTQ+ social 
movements. 

The D&I Working Group has held five 
meetings to date, and has discussed 
and identified a range of D&I topics 
that the strategy will cover. 

One of the group’s initial objectives is 
to increase knowledge and awareness 
of D&I issues among Clúid staff, 
thereby increasing confidence and 
promoting the value of a diverse and 
inclusive workplace. 

At a recent meeting, the Working 
Group members were joined by 
Marie Corr, Intercultural and Diversity 
Coordinator on a jointly funded 
project for the AHB sector. The group 
is looking forward to working closely 
with Marie as it develops its strategy.

Clúid is an equal opportunities 
employer and staff are always 
recruited through open competitions. 
A gender balance is ensured on every 
recruitment panel. 

Diversity 
and Inclusion 
The establishment of the 
Diversity and Inclusion (D&I) 
Working Group will formalise  
and promote specific initiatives 
through a dedicated strategy.
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LGBTQ+ visibility
Clúid celebrates  
Pride each year.

17
National Days  
Clúid’s staff celebrated  
17 nationalities.

54%
of the Department 
heads are female.

66%
Four out of six of 
the Executive Team 
members are female.
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The IT Committee was established 
in late 2020 and 2021 was its first full 
year in operation. The Committee 
is chaired by the Head of the IT 
Department. It provides direction and 
advice to the company in support of 
fulfilling governance responsibilities 
in relation to potential and ongoing IT 
projects. The Committee also assists 
with strategic planning development, 
principles, and policies relevant to IT.
To successfully achieve the objectives 
in our digital strategy, Clúid is 
investing in staff retraining and 
development. We recognise that 
continuous learning, within and 
outside of the core IT team, is central 
to our digital future. Many of the IT 
team are Information Technology 
Infrastructure Library (ITIL) certified, a 
certification that provides a framework 
for delivering IT services, using 
a systematic approach to service 
management.

Data Protection and 
Cyber Security 
Clúid has developed, implemented and 
maintains appropriate technical and 
organisational measures to mitigate the 
risks of data breaches or data loss. Clúid 
has robust processes and procedures 
in place for both data protection, which 
focuses on the data itself, and cyber 
security, the umbrella term for all forms 
of digital security including digital data 
and digital systems.

Clúid is committed to the protection 
of the rights and privacy of individuals 
and complies with the EU General 
Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 
and the Irish Data Protection Acts, 
1988 – 2018. The Head of Business 
Transformation and the Data 
Protection Coordinator are responsible 
for overseeing the implementation 
and review of all related policies and 
procedures. Clúid provides data 
protection awareness and information 
security awareness training to all staff 
as part of the induction programme. 
Cyber security represents an 
operational and legal risk to Clúid, 
and we carried out a major review of 
our networks, devices and processes 
in 2021. To continually improve our 
mitigation measures, we commenced 
a comprehensive cyber security 
awareness training programme.

Technology 
Infrastructure
In 2021, Clúid’s IT Team worked 
across the organisation to deliver a 
new software tool that allowed us 
to conduct a smooth and equitable 
system for the allocation of Cost 
Rental homes to prospective residents. 
The Cost Rental solution, which is 
integrated with the Clúid website, 
provides a simple system for accepting 
applications and uploading supporting 
documentation. Lottery numbers are 
assigned to applicants based on their 
required property size, determined 
by the number of bedrooms. The 
Cost Rental solution runs random 
allocations based on these lottery 
numbers, ensuring homes are 
allocated fairly. 

The IT Department, in collaboration 
with the Business Transformation 
Team, developed and delivered 
Microsoft Power Business Intelligence 
(BI) reporting, a tool that creates 
charts and graphs based on our data. 
The solution allows us to generate 
valuable insights on our customers and 
their homes. The resulting dashboards 
allow the monitoring and analysis of 
performance on our key performance 
indicators (KPIs), at a glance. The 
BI reports will create efficiencies 
and encourage collaboration across 
departments, by bringing together 

A Digital 
Future
In 2021, Clúid continued to invest  
in technology, to enable more  
mobile working, enhance 
communication and insight and  
drive operational efficiencies.
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sets of data that would traditionally 
have been held by different teams in 
different formats.

Throughout 2021 and 2022, we 
are working to replace our Finance 
Management System (FMS), and in 
the longer term we are working to 
upgrade our Housing Management 
System (HMS), our main operations 
solution. The key improvements for 
FMS will provide greater automation 
and reporting capabilities for the 
finance team and end users, and 
an integrated app for expense 
management, requisition and purchase 
orders (PO). 

In 2021, significant work also went into 
developing a functional and technical 
specification for the new HMS. 
The HMS will be used to support 
tenancies through managing voids 
and allocations, income management, 
tenancy management, estate services, 
community development, and 
Owners’ Management Companies 
(OMCs). The plan is to have a fully 
integrated operational system across 
the organisation and that it will 
provide benefits such as improved 
value for money and efficiencies in 
how we work, along with enhanced 
business intelligence, stronger 
inter-department collaboration and 
stronger data integrity. 

Digital 
Communications
In 2021, IT continued to improve 
systems and software to enable Clúid 
staff to continue working from home 
effectively and to progress to a hybrid 
environment. IT also provides an 
excellent opportunity to maintain and 
build on Clúid’s corporate culture. 
Having identified the need for greater 
staff communication, Clúid engaged a 
cloud based social platform provider 
to develop an internal communications 
channel, creating two-way dialogue to 
keep staff informed, connected, and 
engaged. Launching in 2022, ‘This is 
Clúid’ will also provide access to key 
applications that staff use on a daily 
basis, through an integrated digital 
experience. 

Clúid is investing in technological 
developments to improve the 
customer experience. Work has 
commenced on additional resident 
digital touchpoints to enable tenants 
to access services, enhance their 
service choices and avail of self-service 
options for their tenancies at a time of 
their choosing. The aim is to empower 
our residents with the ability to control 
their own information, making their 
lives easier and ensuring speedier 
resolution of issues. These new digital 
options will bring our standard of 
service and delivery in line with other 
services they’re familiar with, for 
example banking applications.

Clúid is on a technological journey, 
embracing change and providing 
solutions to make life simpler for our 
residents and staff. Our technology 
strategy will help Clúid to manage 
risk, strengthen customer relations, 
establish cost-effective practices 
and build a stable IT environment to 
support Clúid’s plans to grow, scale up 
and change.
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The Housing Services Team delivers
core frontline housing services, 
covering general needs, Cost Rental, 
and specialist age-friendly housing. 
The housing team works in partnership 
with local authorities, and many local 
contractors and agencies, to deliver 
core frontline services across the 
country, including: voids and lettings; 
rent collection and arrears management; 
tenancy management; estates and 
facilities services; and community and 
estate development. 

Our housing team works with residents 
to ensure that everyone has a great 
place to live, providing high-quality 
housing and services that contribute to 
building more sustainable communities. 
We believe in enabling our residents to 
create thriving communities. Clúid were 
delighted to be recognised for this work 
in 2021 by winning the Irish Council for 
Social Housing (ICSH) Allianz award for 
best Regeneration Initiative. This project 
involved working in partnership with 
residents to build on the deep sense of 
community spirit in St. Mary’s Mansions 
in Dublin’s north east inner city.

Our best communities have very 
little anti-social behaviour. They are 
flourishing local economies with 
opportunities for education and self-
improvement. Everyone plays their part 
and gets involved in contributing to a 
place where children have a safe place 
to grow up, where local businesses can 
thrive and where older people can feel 
connected and play an active role in 
their community.

Service Excellence  
in 2021
Clúid is continually focused on the 
delivery of service excellence and 
measures our performance against 
our values and goals. We are pleased 
to report that Clúid was placed in the 
upper quartile of performance across 
measures of income management, 
housing allocations and resident
satisfaction with overall services in 
the 2021 Approved Housing Bodies 
Benchmarking report (See page 77  
for further information). 

We believe our success in managing 
our arrears is due to consistent and 
early relationship-based engagement 
with our residents. Clúid is also a 
member of the National Allocations 
Working Group which is developing 
a code of practice for allocations to 
improve AHB void times, learning,  
and practice across the sector. 

We are proud that our work continues 
to be appreciated by our residents and 
that 82% of our residents are satisfied 
with how Clúid listens to their views and 
acts. Clúid understands that residents’ 
homes are part of a wider community 
and we are delighted that 86% of 
residents surveyed were satisfied with 
their neighbourhood. Our Housing 
Officers and Scheme Managers conduct 
regular estate inspections to ensure that 
our developments are kept neat and 
tidy, in addition to staying in regular 
contact and building a strong rapport 
with our residents, neighbours, and 
partners in our local communities.

Housing  
Services
We believe in enabling our residents to 
create thriving communities. Our mission 
is to empower residents to take ownership 
of their neighbourhood and to make it a 
great place to live.

Voids and Allocations
Managing voids is a core function of the 
Housing Management Team. We can 
always expect to see a small number 
of our homes becoming vacant, as 
residents move on from a property. 
This enables us to meet the needs of 
others waiting for a home. The fast and 
efficient turnaround of voids is a priority 
for Clúid. It is vital that we minimise the 
number of empty homes and the length 
of time that they remain empty. (See 
page 77 for further information).

102%
Clúid collected  
102% of rent due.

2.7%
Rent arrears remained 
steady at 2.7% of 
annualised rental.

Rent
2021 Rent at a glance
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2021 Great Place to Live Winners

Place Best  
Neighbourhood

Best Community Project

Clúid Housing First place White Oaks (Kildare) Birchwood (Waterford)

Runner-up Lios na Circe (Mayo) The Granary (Cork)

Runner-up Killarney Court (Dublin) Joyce’s Court (Cork)

Clann First place Broome Lodge (Dublin) Radharc na Cille (Donegal)

Runner-up Marewood Court (Dublin) Oriel Lodge (Cavan) 

Runner-up Ard na Solais (Louth) St Joseph’s Court (Galway)

Runner-up Holy Cross Gardens (Kerry)

Great Place to Live
The annual ‘Great Place to Live’ 
competition recognises and  
celebrates the efforts that residents 
put into making their neighbourhoods 
great places to live. Congratulations 
to everyone involved in the 2021 
competition.

Biodiversity and 
Sustainability Award 
Alongside our Great Place to Live 
Award, we now add our Biodiversity 
and Sustainability Award to the Great 
Place to Live competition. This new 
award category will be launched in 
2022. It is designed to recognise those 
who demonstrate an understanding and 
awareness of nature and biodiversity 
and those who encourage, promote, 
protect, and manage local species and 
habitats in their own community.
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Collaboration -  
Housing Services  
and Legal 
Clúid’s Legal Team works closely 
with their colleagues in Housing 
Services to offer advice and guidance 
on many issues to ensure that we 
are making the right decisions 
and introducing legally compliant 
changes to policies and procedures. 

 » Breaching of house rules in 
apartment complexes:  
This was a review of our tenancy 
agreement process. It looked at 
Clúid’s rights and requirements as 
a landlord in the case of breaches. 
Breaches can vary from repeated 
noise complaints to destruction 
of property, to complaints about 
anti-social behaviour. This work 
informed our procedures in these 
circumstances.

In addition to these standalone 
projects, Legal and Housing Services 
also have a standing monthly meeting 
to discuss any issues that have 
impacted on our housing team in the 
preceding month. 

These meetings have proven effective 
in resolving day-to-day issues before 
they escalate. They ensure both teams 
have a structured way to link in every 
month, to build on their knowledge 
of how the other team works and the 
considerations to take into account 
when an issue arises. 

These collaborations often lead to 
interesting research by the legal team. 

Some of the issues addressed in 
recent research projects include:

 » Clúid’s new digital 
communication channels:  
The research examined whether 
new technologies being explored 
meet Clúid’s requirements under 
rent book regulations. Among 
other investigations, it sought to 
establish if the requirement to 
provide a written rent statement  
to a resident would still be met 

if those statements were only 
available digitally

 » Succession in social housing 
tenancies:  
This question can arise when the 
named resident in one of our 
properties passes away. There are 
no succession rights to a property 
under our social housing tenancies, 
but the legal review allows us to 
remain up-to-date and across all 
potential issues that might arise 
when communicating this to a 
resident’s next-of-kin
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Customer 
Contact 
Centre
The Housing Services Department 
is home to the Customer Contact 
Centre (CCC). The centre is 
responsible for dealing with incoming 
customer queries, as well as providing 
vital support for the wider business. 

The CCC is an in-house service, 
highlighting our commitment to 
continue improving our residents’ 
customer service experience.  
The CCC team delivers an 
administrative function and frontline 
support for colleagues across the 
country, providing customer care 
services such as Cost Rental web chat 
support and offering assistance for 
communications campaigns. 

A key objective is to attempt to resolve 
a query in the first contact. If this is 
not possible, the team will escalate the 
query to bring it to a resolution.

€1,138,456
Rent payments 
by phone 

59,410 
Calls answered

75,991 
Emails sent 

64,764 
Post delivered

168,423 
SMS sent

4,921
Webchat contacts 

Customer Contact 
Centre at a glance

In short, as a result of this 
commitment to customer service,  
we want our residents to be able  
to say:

I have a comfortable 
home and Clúid helps 
me if I have a problem. 
I am treated fairly and 
equitably. I have choice
where possible. 

My issues and problems 
are resolved quickly  
and accurately.

88%
of calls answered 
within 30 seconds
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Resident 
Feedback and 
Benchmarking
Our resident survey programme 
showed that 88% of people 
said they were satisfied or very 
satisfied with the overall service 
they receive from Clúid.

Resident Survey 
Programme
Clúid runs an extensive survey 
programme to get feedback from our 
residents on the services we provide. 

The programme is run by our survey 
partner, Acuity.  

The 2021 programme included  
five types of surveys: 

 » A perception survey, to get 
general feedback from residents 
on their satisfaction with Clúid’s 
services and their home and 
neighbourhood

 » A repairs survey, assessing the 
satisfaction of residents who 
had recently engaged with Clúid 
Works on a repairs issue

 » A lettings survey, with new 
residents who had recently 
moved into Clúid homes, to ask 
how the lettings and moving-in 
process could be improved 

 » A one-off survey on the quality 
and design of Clúid properties 
that were built since 2017. This 
feedback will be used to shape 
our designs for new estates, 
where possible

 » A small-scale survey on 
residents’ satisfaction with 
how Clúid handled their recent 
complaint.

A total of 88% of people were 
satisfied or very satisfied with the 
overall service they receive from 
Clúid and the majority said that they 
would recommend Clúid to others. 
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90%
said that they find  
Clúid easy to deal with.

See more  
Benchmarking Infographic
Page 77

Benchmarking  
with Approved 
Housing Bodies
Acuity, our survey partner, also runs a 
benchmarking programme on behalf 
of the Housing Alliance, comprised 
of six of the largest Approved 
Housing Bodies (AHBs) in Ireland. 
As referenced on page 60, Clúid is a 
member of this group, which supports 
the members of the Alliance to 
voluntarily engage in benchmarking 
their performance, using comparative 
data to identify areas where members 
can learn from each other, share good 
practice and drive improvement. 

Benchmarking reports are completed 
and shared twice a year and the 
findings are discussed at three  
forums: the Housing and Property 
Group, the Finance Group and the 
CEO Group. 

The issues discussed by the 
group in 2021, as a result of the 
benchmarking reports, included:

 » Challenges arising from 
the Covid-19 pandemic, 
for example, non-emergency 
repairs and servicing

 » Potential process 
improvements and 
collaboration with local 
authorities on nominations and 
void turnaround times

 » Best practice in the handling 
of complaints and resident 
satisfaction surveys.
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National 
Repairs Service
Clúid Works
Clúid Works is a dedicated, in-house 
property repairs team. This service 
gives residents access to a national 
repairs service, providing a quicker 
response time and resolution.

The team continued to evolve and 
enhance its operations to overcome 
obstacles caused by the Covid-19 
pandemic. They managed to maintain 
an effective balance between the 
health and safety of our staff and 
residents and delivering an effective 
service in challenging conditions. 
Despite a challenging year, 95% of 
residents told us they were satisfied 
with Clúid Works repairs service. 
Resident feedback received during 
the satisfaction survey is reviewed 
regularly and allows for continuous 
service enhancement.

Clúid Works operatives worked 
hard to attend to the repair backlog 
that accumulated during the initial 
lockdown periods. With additional 
support from our contractor partners, 
the team was available to tackle 
the backlog and return to a normal 
workload. Service delivery quickly 
returned to a seven-day average 
turnaround time for all repairs.

Since it was established, Clúid Works 
operated in a three patch structure, 
covering the East, West and South. 
Resources were assigned and charged 
with delivering the service in those 
particular areas. Our colleagues in the 
Asset Management team had a similar 
arrangement in place, but recently 
made a move to four patches 
(West, East, South and North). 

Due to growth in the number of 
homes, work mix volumes and service 
demand considerations, Clúid Works 
will mirror the four patch structure and 
has begun to augment the teams to 
allow for this transition.

Clúid Works improved its service 
offering, delivering a significant 
proportion of the annual heat pump 
servicing programme in-house. 
This delivery model has been 
supported with a focus on training and 
upskilling our operative teams in the 
area of heat pump maintenance. 
Our operative team also continued 
to grow in alignment with the 
increasing property portfolio 
and services. Similar to the wider 
industry, staff recruitment presented 
challenges. The team has worked 
closely with our colleagues in People 
& Culture to enhance the recruitment 
process for tradespeople and has seen 
a positive impact as a result.

95%
of residents told us 
they were satisfied 
with our repairs 
service.
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Clúid Works at a glance

95%
Satisfaction rate with repairs

15,760 
Total number of repairs 
for the year

1.78
Average repairs per property 
per year

3.3 
Jobs per man per day

7 
Average number of days to 
complete a repair

276 
Total void completions
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€5m Planned 
Programme  
Budget

>  Kitchens fitted 180

>  Boilers and heat pumps installed  260

>  Doors and windows fitted 165

€1.3m Cyclical  
Works  
Budget

>  Gas compliance (at the end of December 2021) 99.8%

>  Gas boilers serviced 4,064

>  Electrical inspections 802

>  Heat pumps installed 2,019

€3.3m Fuel  
Poverty  
Budget 
(including 
grant 
funding) 

>  Clúid contribution €1.62m

>  Grants  €1.68m

>  Units upgraded as part of the BER unit upgrade programme.  
This resulted in an average upgrade from a D1 to B2 rating

207

>  Annual savings for residents through improvements made €182,000

>  Reduction of CO2 emissions Approximately 137 metric tonnes

Stock  
Condition  
Surveys

>  Surveys completed  2,078

-  Existing units 1,156

-  New units 922

Electric  
Vehicle  
Fleet

>  We currently have three Electric Vehicles (EVs)  
in our fleet and we have measured and compared costs and savings.

Cost of Fuel per km 

-  EV €0.03

-  Diesel €0.06

Cost to Lease

-  EV €550 per month

-  Diesel €580 per month

CO2 Emissions per Car

-  EV  0kg

-  Diesel  955kg

Savings on Road Tolls

-  EV  50%

-  Diesel  0%

Property Services
The Property Services Department is 
responsible for ensuring our customers 
continue to live in high-quality homes, 
by delivering comprehensive and 
effective asset management services. 
While our focus may be on ‘bricks and 
mortar’, we recognise the need to 
design our services to meet the needs 
of our current and future customers, 
offering choice where possible and 
ensuring that our residents and their 
families always enjoy warm, safe and 
affordable homes.

The Asset Management Team is split 
geographically and manages the 
planned and cyclical programmes of 
work, supporting the New Business 
Team to deliver new properties 
into management.

Asset 
Management

Partnership with Retrofit  
Energy Ireland Limited

In 2021, we entered into a three-year 
contract with Retrofit Energy Ireland 
Limited (REIL), to bring a minimum of 
1,000 homes to a B2 energy rating. 
We have a programme of 400 units 
planned for 2022, with the remainder 
planned for 2023 and 2024. This  
will represent significant investment 
from both Clúid and SEAI - within  
the region of €30m over the  
three-year period. 

68



69

€5m Planned 
Programme  
Budget

>  Kitchens fitted 180

>  Boilers and heat pumps installed  260

>  Doors and windows fitted 165

€1.3m Cyclical  
Works  
Budget

>  Gas compliance (at the end of December 2021) 99.8%

>  Gas boilers serviced 4,064

>  Electrical inspections 802

>  Heat pumps installed 2,019

€3.3m Fuel  
Poverty  
Budget 
(including 
grant 
funding) 

>  Clúid contribution €1.62m

>  Grants  €1.68m

>  Units upgraded as part of the BER unit upgrade programme.  
This resulted in an average upgrade from a D1 to B2 rating

207

>  Annual savings for residents through improvements made €182,000

>  Reduction of CO2 emissions Approximately 137 metric tonnes

Stock  
Condition  
Surveys

>  Surveys completed  2,078

-  Existing units 1,156

-  New units 922

Electric  
Vehicle  
Fleet

>  We currently have three Electric Vehicles (EVs)  
in our fleet and we have measured and compared costs and savings.

Cost of Fuel per km 

-  EV €0.03

-  Diesel €0.06

Cost to Lease

-  EV €550 per month

-  Diesel €580 per month

CO2 Emissions per Car

-  EV  0kg

-  Diesel  955kg

Savings on Road Tolls

-  EV  50%

-  Diesel  0%

2021 Asset Management  
at a glance
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Our Governance and  
Financial Statements
Maintaining high standards  
of corporate governance 

The board of Clúid Housing is 
committed to maintaining high 
standards of corporate governance.  
Clúid is financially robust and 
independent. All income received is 
reinvested in the delivery of social homes 
across a wide spectrum of housing needs 
for a diverse community of people.
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Clúid’s financial model has enabled 
the organisation to build a diversified 
portfolio to meet the need for social 
housing across Ireland. In 2021, 
Clúid delivered 968 new homes, 
bringing our total homes under 
management to 9,064 at the end 
of the year.
 
Clúid’s finance model is categorised 
and managed in two main areas:

 » Operational 
The day-to-day income 
and expenditure incurred, 
while delivering our services 
to residents

 » Long-term investment in 
new homes 
Managing debt and grant funding 
of the spend on acquiring and 
building new homes and the long-
term maintenance of homes.

Operational – Overview
Clúid’s operational finances have 
continued to perform strongly in 
2021, with annual income increasing 
to €75.9m and a surplus of €17m. 
Clúid’s operational income has 
continued to significantly increase 
year-on-year, reflecting our strategic 
growth plan to deliver new homes on 
a large scale.

Operational – Income
Clúid generates its operational income 
from three main sources, as presented 
in the ‘Clúid Operational Income’ chart 
on page 73.

Availability Income
Availability Income, also referred to 
as Payment and Availability (P&A), 
is generated from rents charged to 

local authorities for accommodating 
residents nominated by them. 
P&A income has increased by 35% to 
€46.6m. This reflects the significant 
growth in homes under management 
using this income stream.

This is our primary source of income 
and is the key to sustaining increased 
funding and supplying new social 
housing units into the future. 
The income guarantees our future 
cashflow and enables Clúid to secure 
debt funding to deliver new homes 
at scale.

Availability income is used to 
repay debt over the course of our 
mortgages, fund our debt interest 
payments and maintain these homes 
into the future (see the Long-term 
Investment Spend section on page 74).

Financial 
Review
Clúid’s operational finances have 
continued to perform strongly in 2021.

Clúid Operational Finances Number of Homes

 Operational Income (€m)  Surplus (€m)
2021 2020 20192021

€17.0m

€75.9m

2020

€59.4m

€12.5m

2019

€46.9m

€7.2m

9,064

8,114
7,469
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Rental Income
Rental income is rent charged to 
residents, based on the Differential 
Rent scheme. This is a means-
based rent charge, with residents 
contributing an affordable portion of 
their rent towards the running costs 
of Clúid.

Rental income is used to deliver 
essential services to our residents 
and to fund our housing officers, 
community development activities, 
property repairs, and central services.

Other Income
Other income comprises mainly of 
development fee income, which is 
where we recover professional fee 
costs for new homes.

Clúids operational 
income has continued 
to significantly increase 
year-on-year, reflecting 
our strategic growth 
plan to deliver new 
homes on a large scale.

Clúid Operational Income 

2021 2020

 Availability Income (€m)

 Rental Income (€m)

 Other Income (€m)

€1.5m €1.1m
€27.8m €23.7m

€46.6m €34.5m

Annual Report 2021



Clúid Housing

Delivering Services

2021 2020

Delivering services 
Clúid’s operating expenditure 
increased from €46.9m in 2020 to 
€58.9m in 2021. This increased spend 
is in line with the growth in homes 
coming into management and the 
delivery of a large development 
pipeline. Clúid has endeavoured 
to ensure that, with such growth in 
units and income, operating costs 
are managed appropriately. The 
‘Delivering Services’ charts above
represent our operational expenditure
year-on-year.

The most significant operational cost 
for Clúid is interest on mortgages, 
representing 33% (€19.4m) of our costs 
in 2021. This is because the majority 
of our new homes are 100% debt 
funded. Interest costs are expected 
to continue to grow, with the delivery 
of more new units into the future. The 
number of debt funded homes at the 
end of 2021 was 4,085, with 930 new 
debt funded homes added last year.
 
Resident support costs relate 
to resident support, tenancy 
management and community 
development services for 
our residents.
 
Repair and maintaining expenditure 
relates to costs incurred repairing, 
maintaining, servicing and investing 
in our homes, so that residents have 

a safe, comfortable and sustainable 
home to live in.

Long-Term Investment: 
An Overview
Clúid’s strategy is to innovate and 
maximise its financial capacity, to 
enable growth in the supply of 
social homes, while also ensuring 
the long-term security and quality of 
tenure for its existing residents. A key 
strategic objective for Clúid is to meet 
housing need across different tenure 
types. To achieve this, Clúid looks 
for the optimal sources of funding 
and continues to work with existing 
funders, to develop new social and 
affordable schemes.
 
In 2021 Clúid borrowed €382m 
to invest in 968 new social and 
affordable homes.
 

Long-Term Investment 
– Funding Portfolio
Clúid’s funding model has drawn from 
a variety of debt loans and grants. 
The funding mix for these assets is 
shown in the ‘Clúid Funding Received’ 
diagram on page 75.

In 2021, Clúid became the first AHB 
in Ireland to secure non-government 
secured debt when we borrowed 
€54m from Legal & General. 

This ability to secure independent 
debt funding demonstrates the 
strength of Clúid’s balance sheet and 
has been part of our corporate plan to 
diversify our funding streams.

Another first for Clúid in 2021 was 
the delivery of the first Cost Rental 
Equity Loan (CREL) scheme in Ireland. 
This provides affordable rental units in 
the private market for middle-income 
households. Clúid received €7m in 
CREL funding. We delivered 65 units 
and now have a significant pipeline of 
new Cost Rental homes to help mitigate 
the shortage of affordable homes.

As we manage Clúid’s growth and 
build new homes, we try to ensure that 
the debt financing risks are controlled. 
Even though our growth is debt 
funded, our debt financing risks for 
Clúid are minimal. Our key debt ratio 
was 58% at the end of 2021, up from 
48% at the end of 2020.

The majority of our funding is 
government backed, through 
Housing Finance Agency (HFA) loans. 
However, we are continuing with our 
diversification of funding streams, 
as we consider this to be important 
for future delivery.

 Mortgage – Interest

 Repair & 
Maintaining Homes

 Resident Support

 New Home 
Development

 Central Services 
and Overheads

 Additional 
Home Leasing

 Depreciation

9%
4%

12%

7%

19% 16%

33%

7%4%

13%

12%

21%

15%

28%

74



75

Investing in New Homes
During 2021, Clúid spent €382m 
investing in new homes and enhancing 
existing homes. We delivered 968 new 
units and spent €3.1m on improving 
existing homes.

Included in our €382m spend in 2021 
are units still under construction 
(€114m), with construction progressing 
on 21 sites at the year end. These will 
be delivered in 2022 and 2023.

Clúid will continue this trend of 
delivering new homes on scale, with a 
committed spend of a further €411m, 
of which €227m is contracted, as at 
the year end.

Included in our €3.1m spend on existing 
units is our commitment to bring our 
older units up to a BER rating of B2, in 
order to tackle fuel poverty among our 
residents. This amount also covers stock 
conditioning works and the remediation 
of construction defects in homes 
acquired under Capital Loan Subsidy 
Scheme (CLSS) funding. 

Clúid Funding Received

Investing in New Homes

20202021

Clúid will continue this 
trend of delivering new 
homes on scale, with a 
committed spend of a 
further €411m in 2022.

 HFA Loans

 CLSS/CAS Grants

 CALF Loans

 LGIM Loans

 CREL Loans

 Other Loans

€709m

€418m

€241m

€59m
€7m €2m €2m00

€486m
€424m

€154m

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

€378.9m

€141.7m

€229.5m

€109.1m €109.7m
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Clúid Housing

Our Value for Money (VfM) strategy 
was introduced in 2020, so 2021 
has been the first full year of its 
implementation. Our focus is to fully 
utilise our assets and resources in a 
cost-efficient manner and deliver a 
cost-efficient, quality service to our 
customers.

Governance
The VfM strategy is agreed and 
monitored by the board. At each 
board meeting, board members review 
the bi-monthly management accounts, 
KPI reports and performance 
benchmarking, along with customer 
satisfaction surveys, to ensure that the 
strategy is being delivered.

Benchmarking

The key to any VfM strategy is 
assessing yourself against your peers 
to understand your performance. Clúid 
is a member of the Housing Alliance 
partnership, which has undertaken 
bi-annual benchmarking across a wide 
variety of Key Performance Indicators 
since 2019. In 2021, we assessed 
ourselves across a wide variety of KPIs.

As a partnership, we jointly review 
these KPIs, so that we can learn from 
them. We also review them and reflect 
on them within Clúid, so that we can 
understand where and how we can 
improve our effectiveness and cost-
efficiency, in terms of both service 
delivery and VfM.

We have listed the financial health 
KPIs in the table opposite. Our 
other operational KPIs are reported 
elsewhere throughout this report.

Gas safety compliance 
A full programme was planned to be 
completed during 2021. However, 
there were challenges accessing 
a small minority of homes, due to 
Covid-19 concerns, which limited 
our ability to complete all planned 
servicing. Property Services continue 
to work with residents to ensure 
safe homes.

Value for Money

102%
Clúid collected 
102% rent in 2021
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2021 Actual Housing Alliance 
Median

Financial Metrics

40% 
Operating Margin (Social Housing)

216% 
Interest Cover –  
Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation & Amortisation 
(EBITDA MRI) as % of Interest

58% 
Gearing

€4,065 
Headline social housing  
cost per property

102% 
Rent collected

2.7% 
Arrears

Delivery Metrics

49 
Average new-let time (days)

91.6 
Average re-let time (days)

88% 
Percentage of customers satisfied 
with the service delivered

Repairs &  
Maintenance Metrics

1.78 
Repairs per property

98.3% 
Gas safety compliance 

Financial Metrics

35.5%
Operating Margin (Social Housing)

207.5%
Interest Cover –  
Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation & Amortisation 
(EBITDA MRI) as % of Interest

61%
Gearing

€3,639
Headline social housing  
cost per property

100% 
Rent collected

3% 
Arrears

Delivery Metrics

77
Average new-let time (days)

102
Average re-let time (days)

88% 
Percentage of customers satisfied 
with the service delivered

Repairs &  
Maintenance Metrics

1.74 
Repairs per property

98.2% 
Gas safety compliance 

TO LET

Financial Health KPIs 

 2021 Actual
 HA Median Outperformed
 HA Median
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2021 was another challenging year 
that tested our governance framework, 
due to the ongoing Covid-19 
restrictions. The board continued to 
meet more frequently throughout the 
year, with an increased focus on the 
health and safety of residents and staff 
and the protection of Clúid homes. 
Meetings continued to be online 
and our IT infrastructure allowed the 
board to remain effective. Our board, 
executive and residents were able to 
meet in person for a board ‘away day’ 
in November.

The Board of Clúid Housing 
Clúid is governed by a non-executive 
(voluntary) board, made up of a 
minimum of five and up to twelve 
members. In 2021, we carried one 
vacancy and three board members 
stepped back, due to external 
commitments. During the year, 
we appointed one new board member, 
Claire Solan. A further two members 
were appointed in 2022, bringing the 
board membership to eleven. 

Before embarking on the recruitment 
of new members, the board took the 
opportunity to review the existing 
skills matrix of its members, along with 
our recruitment policies, processes 
and succession planning. 

We thank our outgoing directors for 
their contribution and commitment 
to Clúid and we welcome the 

appointment of Claire Solan, 
Deborah Power and Niall Sheridan. 
Our directors bring a broad range 
of professional, advocacy and 
commercial experience and skills, 
at both national and international 
level, to their deliberations. A detailed 
overview of our directors is available 
on pages 13 and 14 of this report.

New board members receive a 
comprehensive induction, overseen by 
the chairperson and co-ordinated by 
the company secretary. Topics covered 
include governance and financial and 
operational information. Tours of 
Clúid’s housing schemes are key to 
our induction process, giving our new 
board members the opportunity to 
hear from residents and meet other 
key stakeholders. 

In early 2021, the board took the 
decision to create a dedicated 
company secretary role, to support 
them in their work and in their links 
within the business. Previously, 
the duties of company secretary were 
incorporated as part of another role. 
The decision to create a dedicated 
role was taken to support enhanced 
governance in the organisation and 
to prepare for statutory regulation. 
This role was filled in June 2021 and 
the company secretary is now actively 
developing our governance framework 
and is the key point of contact for 
our corporate compliance and 
relevant regulators.

The details of attendance at board 
meetings and sub-committee 
meetings are set out on page 79.

In 2021, the board commissioned 
three key reviews. The relevant board 
subcommittees undertook the reviews 
and provided recommendations. 

Board Effectiveness
Every three years, the board 
undertakes a board effectiveness 
appraisal, which is carried out by 
external consultants. The 2021 review 
considered the effectiveness of the 
board as a group; their engagement 
with each other and with the 
executive; the content and quality 
of their agendas, papers, meetings 
and minutes; and their decision-
making effectiveness. The appraisal 
highlighted several actions that 
formed the basis of the board and 
executive strategic ‘away day’. 
An action plan was developed and 
the responsibility for implementing 
and monitoring it was delegated to 
the company secretary. Improvements 
such as shorter, more succinct 
papers, more strategic thinking 
time and increased delegation to 
subcommittees are among the 
recommendations adopted. 

Governance 

The board approves Clúid’s 
strategy, structure, business plans 
and budgets, and ensures that 
the organisation remains effective 
and accountable.
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Building Organisational 
Resilience
As part of developing a new strategic 
plan, the board requested the 
Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee to review the structure 
of the organisation and its capacity 
to innovate, respond and create new 
opportunities. This work commenced 
in September 2021 and external 
consultants were engaged to assist 
with the process. A report was 
delivered to the board in early 2022.

Risk Management 
Strategy Review 
The board has responsibility for the 
oversight and management of risk, 
to ensure that the strategic objectives 
of the organisation are met; the assets 
of the business are protected; and the 
long-term financial viability of Clúid 
is effectively managed. 

During 2021, the board asked the 
Audit and Risk Committee to review 
the current risk management structure, 
to ensure that it was fit for purpose. 
This work was led by the Director 
of Finance and Treasury. Policies, 
strategies, and staff training have 
now been reviewed and a new risk 
register structure has been developed. 
The board was involved in updating 
the risk appetite, as part of this 
review. Key to this work is the creation 
of a risk assurance framework for 
the organisation. 

The main risks identified and managed 
during the year are set out on page 86.

Board Strategy 
Development
The board approves Clúid’s strategy, 
structure, business plans and budgets, 
and ensures that the organisation 
remains effective and accountable. 
In 2021, the board approved three new 
strategies – the Greening Strategy, 
the Procurement Strategy and the 
Resident Engagement Strategy. 

The theme of the board ‘away day’ 
in November 2021 was resident 
engagement, with a comprehensive 
presentation from both staff and 
residents on the Resident Engagement 
Strategy. This was an immersive 
experience for the board members 
and gave them an opportunity to 
hear from our key stakeholders – 
our residents – about the main issues 
and challenges that face them and 
their communities. It was a valuable 
opportunity for the board to learn in 
person and get a better understanding 
of what residents require of them.

Attendance at  
Board Meetings

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) 10 of 10

Kathi Ó Riain (Vice Chair) 10 of 10

Des McCarthy (Treasurer) 10 of 10

Enda Cunningham 7 of 9

Michael Cleary 7 of 10

Eamonn Doyle 10 of 10

John Mark McCafferty 4 of 6

Anne McLoughlin 8 of 10

Paul Mooney 7 of 10

David Mullins 9 of 10

Aidan O’Hogan 1 of 1

Claire Solon 5 of 7

Attendance at Business 
Development Committee

Paul Mooney (Chair) 5 of 5

Michael Cleary 4 of 5

David Mullins 5 of 5

Des McCarthy 5 of 5

Claire Solon 1 of 3

John Mark McCafferty 3 of 3

Attendance at Nominations 
and Remunerations Committee*

Anne McLoughlin (Chair) 3 of 3

Eamonn Doyle 3 of 3

* Nominations refers to the appointment of board members. Remuneration refers 
to the oversight of organisation wide remuneration policies and adjustments, with 
specific reference to the executive directors and senior management.

Attendance at Audit 
and Risk Committee

Enda Cunningham (Chair) 4 of 4

Mark Shakespeare 4 of 5

Kathi O’Riain 4 of 5

Eamonn Doyle 5 of 5

Annual Report 2021 79



Clúid’s Risk Assurance Framework is a critical tool in managing the uncertainties 
our business faces in our focus on delivering new homes, protecting existing 
homes and generating long-term, sustainable growth, while looking after our 
staff and residents.

Risk registers are reviewed at operational, executive and board level on a 
recurring basis. In 2021, the Audit and Risk Committee initiated a review of 
the Risk Management process, in order to ensure that it was evidence-based 
and focused on risk assurance. All staff with risk management responsibility 
were re-educated in Bow-tie and 3 Lines of Defence Methodologies. The risk 
management structure was reviewed and refreshed to reflect current best practice 
in risk management. Our Risk Management framework has been integrated as part 
of our Key Performance Indicators and corporate delivery. Work will continue in 
2022 to embed the Risk Assurance Framework across the organisation.

The principal areas of financial risk and uncertainty for the business 
are set out on page 86.

Risk 
Management
Clúid’s operational finances have 
continued to perform strongly in 2021.
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Strategic report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Review of the business
Clúid Housing Association is a company 
limited by guarantee (Registered 
Company Number: 212249) and a 
registered charity (Registered Charity 
Number: 20029975).

The principal activities of the 
Company are charitable and relate 
to ownership and management of 
social and affordable housing across a 
wide spectrum of housing needs. All 
income is applied solely towards the 
promotion of the charitable objectives 
of the Company.

Clúid is currently the largest Approved 
Housing Body (AHB) provider of social 
housing in the Republic of Ireland, 
offering housing solutions to households 
in housing need. 

There continues to be a housing 
shortage in Ireland, especially affordable 
homes for lower and middle-income 
households. Clúid is committed 
to working with our partners and 
government to deliver as many new 
homes as possible each year and to 
providing a range of options in meeting 
these needs.

Clúid is governed by the Clúid Board, 
which is ultimately responsible for the 
governance of the housing association, 
including the determination of its overall 
objectives and strategy. The Board 
comprises of up to twelve non-executive 
members positions. Collectively the 
Board has amongst its membership 
a range of skills, experience and 
understanding of corporate governance, 
general business strategy and 
management, equality, finance, banking, 
property investment and property 
development, local government, and 
housing management.

Financial Review
The key financial measures during the year were as follows:

2021 2020 Change
€’000 €’000 %

Turnover 75,934 59,431 27%

Operating surplus 36,400 25,744 41%

Total Comprehensive (Loss)/Gain 16,996 12,459 36%

Net assets 127,539 110,543 15%

Cash at Bank 59,1921 30,200 96%

1 Includes €19 million LGIM facility not yet drawn held in escrow 

The results in the financial statements demonstrate that the Company continues to 
invest in its homes and services to residents and to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

1 Includes €19 million LGIM facility not yet drawn held in escrow

The Directors present the strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Strategic report (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Operational review
Clúid Housing Association reached 
the 9,000-home milestone in 2021 and 
now has 9,064 homes across 31 Local 
Authority areas in management. Our 
largest source of income is the Payment 
and Availability Agreement (P&AA) 
income, paid under contract by local 
government, followed by rental income, 
paid by tenants. Our combined P&AA 
income and rental income increased 
from €58.3 million in 2020 to €74.5 
million in 2021, primarily driven by the 
increase in the number of homes under 
management in the year.

Operationally, 2021 continued to be 
dominated by our response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic. We continued to 
adapt our service through restrictions 
by following Government regulations. 
In the first half of 2021 we were able 
to move from emergency service 
only, focusing on urgent repairs, and 
recommence compliance related activity 
and a limited planned maintenance 
programme. We continued letting 
homes, albeit nominations were 
restricted due to COVID related 
priorities of the local authorities. Our 
focus continued to be the wellbeing 
and welfare of our residents and 
staff, income collection and ensuring 
the health and safety of colleagues 
delivering services in people’s homes.

As lockdown eased in April 2021, 
construction sites officially re-opened, 
and we were able to restart our 
development programme which, up to 
that point, had been restricted to turnkey 
acquisitions. Routine repairs commenced, 
and our housing services were able to 
resume much of their work. However, our 
planned programme and development 
pipeline of new homes continued to be 
impacted due to supply chain issues 
with materials and a lack of skilled 
labour. Over the course of 2021, Clúid 
completed 15,760 responsive repairs as 
well as upgrading over 276 properties.

During the last year, Clúid let 1,222 
homes, 931 of which were new 
properties, with demand strong across 
all areas of the country. We now provide 
homes for over 24,000 people in 
Ireland. Occupancy rate for 2021 on 
average across the year was 96.8%. 
Although there is commentary on the 
move to smaller homes, we have not 
seen any discernible shift in demand for 
home size since 2017. One-bedroom 
homes continue to account for 14% of 
our stock with two- and three- bedroom 
homes accounting for approximately 
39% and 42% respectively. Four-
bedroom homes remain constant at 5% 
of our housing stock.

Rent arrears as a percentage of rental 
income has remained relatively stable 
over the previous financial year at 2.7%. 
Our performance in this area compares 
favourably with our peers and investment 
in our services and staff has meant that 
we have been able to provide specialist 
and targeted support to tenants 
experiencing financial difficulty.

In 2021 we invested €12 million in 
repairs and maintenance, an increase 
of €2.2 million from the previous year. 
We invested over €5 million in retrofit 
to improve the efficiency of our homes 
as part of an ongoing programme to 
help alleviate fuel poverty and reduce 
our carbon footprint. This is a long-term 
programme to bring older properties up 
to a BER B2 rating.

As of December 2021, we achieved 
gas and electrical compliance of 98.3% 
and 98.5% respectively and 100% on 
oil boilers. Restrictions had led to a 
backlog during 2020. This was targeted 
for additional resource in 2021 to ensure 
we achieved a very high level of landlord 
compliance. Despite not being able 
to achieve full compliance due to the 
pandemic restrictions we are satisfied that 
there are no safety implications for those 
homes which we have not yet had the 
opportunity to service.

During 2021, two key strategies for the 
future service delivery were approved 
by Board. A strategy to develop resident 
engagement to ensure that our residents 
are involved in the design and delivery 
of their services and their community. 
The second strategy launched early in 
2021 was the greening strategy aimed at 
improving not only the environment within 
which our residents live but also to make 
our homes more efficient and reduce our 
organisational carbon footprint.
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Strategic report (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Future developments
Clúid has a significant role to play in 
building new homes across multiple 
tenures to cater for people with different 
financial capacity within Ireland. The 
Company delivers a high proportion of 
social rented homes for the sector. Our 
objective in 2021 was to increase our 
ability to develop larger projects with 
a focus on creating balanced mixed 
tenure communities. The development 
of the first Cost Rental schemes in 
Ireland, during 2021, has enhanced 
our ability to deliver mixed tenure 
communities. Cost Rental provides 
secure quality homes for low to middle 
income working households who 
struggle to afford market rent.

Clúid are targeting delivering 1,500 
affordable cost rental units over the next 
five years. They are meeting an identified 
need and proved very popular, with 
significant over subscription to date for 
those Cost Rental schemes occupied in 
2021. The ability to develop new homes 
at scale is also making an increasing 
impact in terms of delivering Government 
objectives for social housing.

Clúid in 2021 was a major supplier of new 
build homes across Ireland, delivering 
964 new homes into occupancy against a 
target of circa 1,000. This was a notable 
delivery given the backdrop of the 
construction sector shutdown during 
the first half of 2021. Clúid also secured 
contracts during the year for a further 
1,900 homes to be delivered in 2022- 
2024. All our developments are based 
on delivering quality homes that are 
affordable for residents and built in areas 
of high housing demand. We are also 
embarking on a step change regarding 
decarbonisation targets, with several 
innovative projects completed, on site 
and in development. 

Our development programme is 
underpinned by a variety of funding 
sources including, Capital Advance 
Leasing Facility (CALF), Cost Rental 
Equity Loan (CREL), debt finance through 

the Housing Finance Agency (HFA) and 
the Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS). A 
total of €298 million was borrowed from 
these sources in 2021 with a further €5 
million grants being provided for new 
homes. During 2021 Clúid completed its 
first commercial loan for development.  
This was a €54 million facility with Legal 
General Investment Management (LGIM). 
Five schemes were completed and 
funded using the LGIM facility during 
the year with a final scheme scheduled 
to complete in the first quarter 2022 
drawing the remaining €19 million.

Our development programmes 
are flexible, reflecting the fluidity 
associated with delivery at the various 
stages of activity through feasibility, 
design, acquisition, procurement, and 
construction. Our development approach 
is underpinned by our Growth Strategy 
and our Design Guide which was officially 
launched in Spring of 2021 with the 
objective of ensuring that our contractors 
and developers who wish to work with us 
understand our requirements.

Our teams are consistently seeking 
out innovative solutions on new 
developments in terms of design 
flexibility, energy efficiency and the 
role of modular and sub-modular 
housing solutions. The team focuses on 
continuous improvement and innovation 
in terms of delivery mechanisms through 
procurement and contracting structures. 
Our objective is to maximise delivery and 
use of resources alongside minimising 
risk to Clúid. We collaborate with other 
AHBs and partner organisations in the 
public and private sectors such as the 
Department of Housing Planning and 
Local Government, Local Authorities, 
the Housing Agency and the Housing 
Finance Agency.

The delivery of affordable homes is seen 
as a key priority by the Government, 
and this has been backed by significant 
increases in the levels of loan funding to 
support delivery.

We plan to deliver on a large pipeline 
of new homes to meet our social 
mission. We are strongly supported by 
our stakeholders and our work aligns 
with Government strategy. Our national 
footprint means we are well positioned 
to deliver.

As Clúid continues to grow at a rate 
of approximately 15% per year, it 
understands the need to support 
this growth with greater capacity and 
greater financial resilience within the 
organisation. During 2021 we committed 
to implementing a new finance system 
with delivery very early in 2022 along 
with tendering for a new Housing 
Management system for delivery in 
2023. These new systems will provide a 
step change in user experience for our 
colleagues and a new digital platform for 
our customers to do business with us. We 
expect the implementation to complete 
in 2023 and give us the ability to realise 
more efficiencies in the future as we grow.

Funding social and housing policy and 
research is important to Clúid and is a key 
aspect in informing our future strategy 
and in bringing forward new products 
such as our age-friendly Clann schemes. 
We published three significant pieces of 
research in 2021. The first, a report on 
financial inclusion launched June 2021, 
in partnership with the Housing Finance 
Agency (HFA). It presented a range of 
recommendations, including increasing 
the income base of social housing 
residents, promoting financial inclusion via 
appropriately designed financial services, 
as well as building financial capability 
and a supportive social context. We are 
currently in the process of developing a 
Financial Inclusion Strategy to support 
these objectives. Our second report, 
entitled Towards a Sustainable Rental 
Sector in Ireland, was published in April 
in partnership with the Irish Institutional 
Property (IIP) and our third report on 
Planning Gain and Obligations, reviewing 
the promise and performance of Part V, w 
as published in September 2021.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
The principal areas of risk and uncertainty 
for the business are as follows:

 – COVID-19 – Clúid is now operating 
close to business as usual and are 
delivering a full range of services to 
our residents albeit with a digital-first 
focus. Our operating structure and 
digital infrastructure have allowed us 
to continue to deliver quality housing 
management services, particularly to 
those who need more support. There 
has been much to learn during the 
last 12 months and there are many 
new ways of working. Our objective 
is to create an agile working culture. 
However, we have business continuity 
plans for potential further lockdowns 
and are monitoring the longer-term 
impacts of the pandemic on our more 
vulnerable tenants.

 – Future Growth Housing for All has 
set out ambitious targets for growth in 
social and affordable housing. Clúid 
along with the sector are reviewing 
and assessing how they are able to 
meet that challenge including how 
this growth should be delivered 
to ensure the long-term financial 
viability of the AHBs. Clúid are 
actively participating in government 
consultations on CALF lending to 
ensure the outcome of this review 
provides long-term funding stability 
for the sector.

 – Construction Defects Legacy 
issues with properties built prior to 
2013 have come to the forefront 
over recent years. The costs and 
implications of rectifying these 
issues amongst our apartment stock 
built during that period is currently 
estimated at €20 million with a plan to 
address this over a seven-year period. 
We are taking a proactive approach 
to identifying properties at risk and 
to rectifying building defects. Our 
Property Services team are identifying 
the affected properties and planning 
the required remedial works. Clúid 
seeks to mitigate the financial risk 
through engaging and lobbying on 
behalf of social landlords. This risk is 
regularly reviewed at Board to ensure 
adequate mitigation for both the 
health and safety risk as well as the 
financial risk.

 – Owners’ Management Companies 
(OMC) Clúid has approximately 2,342 
units across 142 schemes with OMCs. 
Our priorities are to ensure that 
construction defects are completed 
alongside prudent provision for the 
proper management of ongoing 
freeholder responsibilities. This 
includes ensuring adequate sinking 
funds are built up for the proper 
maintenance of the apartment 
blocks to manage both financial and 
reputational risk. Staff resources, 
including a dedicated manager, 

have been allocated to mitigate this 
risk. Clúid staff sit on OMC boards 
and, where appropriate, we engage 
professional directors to ensure the 
assets are protected. Our housing 
staff are licenced by the Property 
Services Regulatory Authority. Their 
ongoing CPD training is enhanced 
by specific courses on being an OMC 
director. This risk is monitored at each 
Audit and Risk meeting with reporting 
to the Board.

 – Legacy Schemes Clúid has 3,400 
grant funded schemes which rely 
upon differential rental income. 
This income is insufficient to cover 
the lifetime costs of managing and 
maintaining the properties. Clúid 
are engaged with the sector and 
the Housing Alliance Group to 
obtain additional income streams 
to cover the necessary component 
replacement costs and ensure the 
financial viability of these properties. 
Resolution of this issue is essential 
to the financial sustainability and 
resilience of the organisation. A 
proposal has been submitted to the 
Department for Housing and awaits 
a response. Clúid will continue to 
manage and report on costs of these 
schemes and is investing in systems to 
develop cost allocation at unit level.

This report was approved by the Board on: 9th April 2022 and signed on its behalf.

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) Des McCarthy (Treasurer)
Director Director

Strategic report (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021
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Directors’ report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Regulation
Clúid was designated an Approved 
Housing Body (AHB) in 1994 and has 
adopted and supported the Voluntary 
Regulation Code for AHBs since its 
launch. 2021 was a changeover year 
from voluntary to statutory regulation 
and as a result the Chair, two Board 
members, Chief Executive Officer, 
along with the Director for Finance 
and Treasury, met with the voluntary 
regulator in May 2021 for review, but 
no formal submissions were required 
during the year. We welcome the 
full implementation of statutory 
regulation from early 2022 under the 
Housing (Regulation of Approved 
Housing Bodies) 2019 Act and are fully 
committed to working with AHBRA in 
future years.

Clúid is also regulated under the 
Charities Act 2009 and submitted 
its annual return and annual report 
in accordance with that Act and 
associated regulations.

Governance and management
Clúid is governed by a Board composed 
of up to 12 non-executive directors 
drawn from a range of backgrounds. 
Certain of the Board’s responsibilities 
are delegated to three main 
functional committees:

 – The Audit and Risk Committee,
 – The Business Development 

Committee
 – The Nominations and 

Remuneration Committee.

Each committee has clear terms of 
reference and delegated authority. 
The Chair of each committee provides 
the Board with regular reports 
regarding their activities, findings, 
and recommendations.

While the Board is responsible for 
the overall strategy and policy of 
the organisation, the day-to-day 
management is delegated to the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO), who is not 
a member of the Board. The CEO 
chairs regular management meetings 
throughout the year that deal with all 
major management issues and decisions 
of the organisation.

Due, in part, to the continued impact 
of the pandemic in 2021, the Board 
met more regularly than in prior years. 
Together with our normal strategy day, 
which was held in person as allowed 
by the then prevailing restrictions, 
it conducted 10 meetings remotely, 
of which three were outside normal 
schedule, to consider specific items. 
Despite the challenges of Covid 19, 
the Board continued to work otherwise 
as normal throughout the year and the 
Board approved amongst other items 
the following as part of its work:

 – 1,259 homes across 46 schemes for 
delivery, total costs €384 million

 – Completed commercial funding with 
LGIM for €54 million

 – Cost Rental business plan for the 
targeted delivery of 1,500 homes 
over the next five years

 – Procurement Strategy
 – Resident Engagement Strategy
 – 30-year financial business model
 – Greening Strategy
 – Construction Defects resolution.

In additional to the above, the Board 
engaged an external consultant to 
undertake a Board Effectiveness review, 
in line with our rolling strategy.

The Directors present their directors report for the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.
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Directors’ report (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Audit and Risk 
Committee Statement
The Company has an Audit and Risk 
Committee. It met five times during 
the year, received seven internal audit 
reports and 44 operational reports from 
the management team including risk 
registers, cyber security, data protection 
compliance as well as scrutiny of 
governance registers. The committee 
was chaired by Enda Cunningham 
until his resignation from the board in 
November 2021. Eamonn Doyle has 
been appointed as the new Chair.

This committee is supported by the 
Director for Finance and Treasury.

Business and Development 
Committee Statement
The Business Development Committee, 
which is responsible for strategic review 
of customer service, asset management, 
major investments, and new business 
opportunities, met five times during the 
year. Paul Mooney is the Chair following 
the resignation of Aidan O’Hogan in 
February 2021.

The core items in the committee 
workplan included monitoring the 
implementation of the resident 
engagement, greening and asset 
management strategies, overseeing 
the development of the Cost Rental 
offering and reviewing the progress 
of the organisation’s efficiency drive 
through a range of Value for Money 
initiatives. Other topics discussed at the 
committee included a regular review of 
the development pipeline and delivery; 
the impact of Covid-19 and measures 
taken to ensure continuity of service 
delivery; an appraisal of the updated 
design guide; the development of an 
office facilities strategy, and the benefits 
of, and opportunities for, increasing 
mixed tenure schemes.

The committee is convened by the 
Director of Property Services.

Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee Statement
In 2021, the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee (NRem) 
met 12 times.

As well as overseeing any requests 
for new resources and remuneration 
enhancements, the Committee co-
opted two additional Board members 
and commissioned two projects during 
2021. The first ‘Board Effectiveness 
Review’ established the current 
effectiveness of the Board and provided 
an ideal skills matrix and the second, 
a forward-looking assessment of the 
structure and composition of the 
management team, to ensure that the 
organisation has the capacity to deliver 
on its strategy, a project which will 
continue into 2022. The Committee is 
also responsible for the appointment 
of new Board members, and we have 
commenced recruitment for several 
board vacancies, a process which also 
will continue into 2022.

The Committee is chaired by Anne 
McLoughlin and convened by the 
Director of Corporate Services.
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Directors’ report (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Internal financial controls
The Board acknowledges its 
responsibility for the system of internal 
control, and has taken measures 
which will provide reasonable, but not 
absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. The Board 
employs experienced and suitably 
qualified staff to administer the systems 
and controls and take responsibility for 
important business functions.

The Board operates to clearly defined 
Financial Regulations and Delegated 
Authorities. It ensures that formal 
policies, procedures, and levels of 
delegated authority are in place, 
and requires financial plans and 
management accounts to be laid before 
it for regular review. An explanation 
for any departure from these plans is 
required together with a proposal for 
appropriate corrective action.

The Board considers risk in the 
development of policies; it has also 
assessed risk in relation to its reserves 
policy and formulation of internal audit 
plans. The risk management framework 
extends into non-financial areas.

Internal audit reports are received 
directly by the Audit & Risk Committee 
and contain recommendations from 
internal auditors on the operation of 
internal control. Both internal and 
external audit reports are considered 
by the Audit & Risk Committee with 
progress reports supplied to the 
Committee until all corrective action 
has been completed.

2021 was the first year of the current 
two-year audit programme put in place 
by the Audit & Risk Committee as part 
of the internal audit framework. The 
two-year audit plan has been regularly 
reviewed and risk based linked to 
strategic delivery. It is supported by 
continuous audit testing and is reflective 
of the current operating circumstances 
across the organisation, sector, and 
the economy.

Through the above mechanisms, the 
Board has reviewed and continues to 
review the effectiveness of internal 
control within the accounting year 
and to the date of the signing of the 
Financial Statements.

Equality and diversity
Clúid is committed to equality and 
diversity in employment and the 
provision of our services. This means we 
recognise that everyone is different and 
treat these differences with respect, we 
value the diversity of all people we work 
with and, we consult to ensure that we 
deliver services openly and fairly, and in a 
way which suits our residents. We invest 
in a skilled, stable, and diverse workforce 
and seek to protect our staff from 
discrimination. We seek to work with 
partners who share our values and will 
challenge discrimination in all its forms.

Our people
Clúid develops and delivers new 
housing solutions and manages tenancy 
relationships for a large property 
portfolio, while maintaining an asset 
base of over €1.5 billion. To achieve this, 
we have a highly skilled, experienced 
and engaged staff who Clúid supports 
with a safe and healthy environment to 
work in. This allows Clúid to achieve the 
objective of building more homes and 
to offer exemplary customer service to 
our residents.

2021 continued to present challenges 
to managers and staff as they 
continued to deliver services in person 
or remotely as a result of the global 
Covid-19 pandemic.

Staff wellbeing has been paramount 
during this time. Through a coordinated 
effort from HR, Health and Safety, 
Internal Communications and the 
Executive and Leadership teams there 
has been significant focus on wellbeing 
over the last 18 months.

At 31 December 2021 our overall staff profile was as follows:

Female 60%
Male 40%

Female 54%
Male 46%

Female 46%
Male 54%

Staff Composition:
Executive Team

Staff Composition:
Heads of Department

Staff Composition:
All Staff
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Directors’ report (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Partnerships
In Clúid, from experience, we realise we 
can achieve more in partnership than 
we can alone and continue therefore to 
engage with partners from the private, 
local authority and housing association 
sectors to create new opportunities and 
ensure a strong delivery pipeline for new 
homes across different tenure models.

Health and safety of employees
The wellbeing of the Company’s 
employees is safeguarded through 
strict adherence to health and safety 
standards. Health and safety legislation 
imposes certain requirements on 
employers and the Company has 
taken the necessary action to ensure 
compliance with the relevant legislation, 
including the requirements and 
associated guidance issued, to ensure 
the safety and wellbeing of staff during 
the current pandemic. During 2021, 
internal audit undertook a review 
of health and safety processes and 
confirmed that they were operating 
satisfactorily across the organisation.

Environmental matters
The Company works to minimise 
adverse impacts on the environment 
from its operations, whilst continuing to 
address health, safety, and economic 
issues. To the best of its knowledge, the 
Company continues to comply with all 
applicable legislation and regulations.

Clúid has developed a Greening 
Strategy which received Board approval 
early in the year. Its sets a clear direction 
for the Company over the next decade 
as we seek to reduce our environmental 
impact, contribute to Ireland’s emission 
reduction targets, impact positively 
on biodiversity and help create a 

sustainable future for all. Clúid has 
continued to invest and implement 
its retrofit programme to improve the 
energy efficiency of our properties 
during 2021 and to reduce the cost of 
heating and running our homes for our 
residents. Our strategy is being rolled 
out across the organisation as we seek 
to develop sustainable asset and energy 
management, designing and building 
low carbon homes and promoting best 
use of environmental resources.

Accounting records
The measures taken by the directors 
to ensure compliance with the 
requirements of Sections 281 to 285 
of the Companies Act 2014 include 
the keeping of accounting records, 
employing appropriately qualified 
accounting personnel, and maintaining 
computerised accounting systems. 
The Company’s accounting records are 
maintained at the Company’s registered 
office at 159-161 Sheriff Street Upper, 
Dublin 1.

Directors’ compliance statement
Each of the persons who are directors 
at the time when this Directors’ annual 
report is approved, acknowledged 
that they are responsible for securing 
the Company’s compliance with its 
relevant obligations.

To ensure that the Company has 
achieved material compliance with 
its relevant obligations, the directors 
confirm that they have:

 – Drawn up a compliance policy 
statement setting out the Company’s 
policies respecting compliance by the 
Company with its relevant obligations

 – Put in place appropriate 
arrangements and structures that 
are designed to secure material 
compliance with the Company’s 
relevant obligations

 – Conducted a review, during the 
financial year, of the arrangements 
and structures, referred to above.

Events since the end of the year
There have been no significant events 
affecting the Company since the 
year end.

Future developments
The Company plans to continue in its 
present activities.

Statement of relevant 
audit information
Each of the persons who are directors 
at the time when this Directors’ report is 
approved has confirmed that:

 – So far as the director is aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of 
which the Company’s auditors are 
unaware, and

 – The director has taken all the steps 
that ought to have been taken as a 
director to be aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish 
that the Company’s auditors are 
aware of that information.

Auditors
Grant Thornton are the appointed 
auditors for the company for the 
financial year 2021. The auditors, 
Grant Thornton, continue in office in 
accordance with section 383(2) of the 
Companies Act 2014.

On behalf of the board

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) Des McCarthy (Treasurer)
Director Director

Date: 9th April 2022
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Directors’ responsibilities statement
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

The directors are responsible for 
preparing the Directors’ report and the 
financial statements in accordance with 
Irish law and regulations.

Irish company law requires the directors 
to prepare the financial statements for 
each financial year. Under the law, the 
directors have elected to prepare the 
financial statements in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2014 and Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland’.

Under company law, the directors must 
not approve the financial statements 
unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities 
and financial position of the Company 
as at the financial year end date, of the 
profit or loss for that financial year and 
otherwise comply with the Companies 
Act 2014.

In preparing these financial statements, 
the directors are required to:

 – Select suitable accounting policies for 
the Company’s financial statements 
and then apply them consistently

 – Make judgments and accounting 
estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent

 – State whether the financial 
statements have been prepared 
in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards, identify 
those standards, and note the effect 
and the reasons for any material 
departure from those standards

 – Prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for 
ensuring that the Company keeps or 
causes to be kept adequate accounting 
records which correctly explain and 
record the transactions of the Company, 
enable at any time the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of 
the Company to be determined with 
reasonable accuracy, enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements 
and Directors’ report comply with the 
Companies Act 2014 and enable the 
financial statements to be audited. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Company and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

On behalf of the board

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) Des McCarthy (Treasurer)
Director Director

Date: 9th April 2022
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Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of Clúid Housing Association

Opinion
We have audited the Financial 
Statements of Clúid Housing 
Association, which comprise the 
Statement of comprehensive income, 
the Statement of financial position, the 
Statement of cash flows, the Statement 
of changes in equity for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2021, and 
the related notes to the Financial 
Statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in the preparation 
of the financial statements is Irish law 
and accounting standards issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council including 
FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland’ (Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in Ireland).

In our opinion, Clúid Housing 
Association’s financial statements:

 – Give a true and fair view in 
accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in Ireland of 
the assets, liabilities and financial 
position of the Company as at 31 
December 2021 and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the 
financial year then ended

 – Have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the 
‘Responsibilities of the auditor for the 
audit of the financial statements’ section 
of our report. We are independent 
of the Company in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of financial 
statements in Ireland, namely the Irish 
Auditing and Accounting Supervisory 
Authority (IAASA) Ethical Standard 
concerning the integrity, objectivity and 
independence of the auditor, and the 

ethical pronouncements established by 
Chartered Accountants Ireland, applied 
as determined to be appropriate in the 
circumstances for the entity. We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to 
going concern
In auditing the financial statements, 
we have concluded that the Directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, 
we have not identified any material 
uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, 
may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities, and the 
responsibilities of the Directors, with 
respect to going concern are described 
in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
Other information comprises 
information included in the Annual 
Report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon, including the Directors’ report. 
The directors are responsible for the 
other information. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover 
the information and, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the 
financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies in the financial 
statements, we are required to 
determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report 
that fact.

We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Matters on which we are 
required to report by the 
Companies Act 2014
 – We have obtained all the information 

and explanations which we consider 
necessary for the purposes of 
our audit.

 – In our opinion the accounting records 
of the Company were sufficient to 
permit the financial statements to be 
readily and properly audited.

 – The financial statements are in 
agreement with the accounting records.

 – In our opinion the information given 
in the Directors’ Report is consistent 
with the financial statements. Based 
solely on the work undertaken in the 
course of our audit, in our opinion, the 
Directors’ Report has been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2014.

Matters on which we are 
required to report by exception
Based on our knowledge and 
understanding of the Company and its 
environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material 
misstatements in the Directors’ Report.

Under the Companies Act 2014, we 
are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion, the disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration and transactions specified 
by sections 305 to 312 of the Act have 
not been made. We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this responsibility.
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)

to the members of Clúid Housing Association

Responsibilities of the 
management and those charged 
with governance for the 
financial statements
As explained more fully in the Directors’ 
responsibilities statement, management 
is responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements which give a 
true and fair view in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
in Ireland, including FRS102, and for 
such internal control as they determine 
necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, 
management is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the 
management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance 
are responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the 
auditor for the audit of 
the financial statements
The auditor’s objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will 
always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 
ISAs (Ireland), the auditor will exercise 
professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. They will also:

 – Identify and assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control

 – Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion of the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control

 – Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures 
made by management

 – Conclude on the appropriateness 
of management’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If they 
conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, they are required to draw 
attention in the auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify their opinion. 
Their conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of the auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as 
a going concern

 – Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves 
a true and fair view.

The auditor communicates with those 
charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control 
that may be identified during the audit.

The purpose of our audit 
work and to whom we 
owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the 
Company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with section 391 of the 
Companies Act 2014. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose.

To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than 
the Company and the Company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

 
Michael Shelley
For and on behalf of:

Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants
& Statutory Audit Firm
13-18 City Quay
Dublin 2.

9th April 2022
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note € €

Turnover 3 75,934,366 59,431,443

Gross surplus 75,934,366 59,431,443

Administrative expenses (52,432,940) (46,439,187)

Other operating income 4 12,865,275 12,600,555

Surplus on maintenance costs 32,932 151,110

Operating surplus 6 36,399,633 25,743,921

Interest receivable and similar income 10 8 258

Interest payable and expenses 11 (19,403,312) (13,285,020)

Surplus before taxation 16,996,329 12,459,159

Surplus for the financial year 16,996,329 12,459,159

All amounts relate to continuing operations.

There was no other comprehensive income for 2021 (2020: €Nil).

The notes on pages 99 to 112 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note € €

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 12 1,521,699,693 1,158,244,023

1,521,699,693 1,158,244,023

Current assets

Stocks 13 200,070 171,374

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 14 11,965,307 9,608,208

Cash at bank and in hand 15 59,193,818 30,200,231

71,359,195 39,979,813

Current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (54,795,098) (35,288,394)

Net current assets 16,564,097 4,691,419

Total assets less current liabilities 1,538,263,790 1,162,935,442

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 17 (1,410,724,813) (1,052,392,794)

Net assets 127,538,977 110,542,648

Capital and reserves

Designated reserve 19 23,789,489 23,789,489

Deferred amortisation reserve 19 77,038,314 70,144,987

Other restricted reserve 19 785,500 785,500

Income and expenditure account 19 25,925,674 15,822,672

Shareholders’ funds 127,538,977 110,542,648

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board:

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) Des McCarthy (Treasurer)
Director Director

Date: 9th April 2022

The notes on pages 99 to 112 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Designated 
reserve

Deferred 
amortisation 

reserve

Other 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

account

Total 
reserves

€ € € € €

1 January 2021 23,789,489 70,144,987 785,500 15,822,672 110,542,648

Surplus for the financial year - - - 16,996,329 16,996,329

Transfer to/from income and expenditure account - 6,893,327 - (6,893,327) -

At 31 December 2021 23,789,489 77,038,314 785,500 25,925,674 127,538,977

Statement of changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020

Designated 
reserves

Deferred 
amortisation 

reserve

Other 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

account

Total 
reserves

€ € € € €

1 January 2020 23,789,489 63,070,835 785,500 10,437,665 98,083,489

Surplus for the financial year - - - 12,459,159 12,459,159

Transfer to/from income and expenditure account - 7,074,152 - (7,074,152) -

31 December 2020 23,789,489 70,144,987 785,500 15,822,672 110,542,648

The notes on pages 99 to 112 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
€ €

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the financial year 16,996,329 12,459,159

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of tangible assets 18,373,564 15,545,890

Loss on disposal of tangible assets 738,118 740,649

Government grants (12,865,275) (12,600,555)

Interest paid 19,403,312 13,285,020

Interest received (8) (258)

(Increase) in stocks (28,696) (2,225)

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (2,357,099) 1,397,714

Increase in creditors 12,436,744 3,577,019

Net cash generated from operating activities 52,696,989 34,402,413

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (382,676,592) (142,148,107)

Sale of tangible fixed assets 109,240 -

Interest received 8 258

Net cash used in investing activities (382,567,344) (142,147,849)

Cash flows from financing activities

New secured loans 367,733,476 123,669,784

Government grants received 6,812,178 5,755,667

Interest paid (15,681,712) (10,765,710)

Net cash from financing activities 358,863,942 118,659,741

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 28,993,587 10,914,305

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 30,200,231 19,285,926

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 59,193,818 30,200,231

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year comprise:

Cash at bank and in hand 59,193,818 30,200,231

59,193,818 30,200,231

The notes on pages 99 to 112 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Analysis of changes in net debt

At Start  
of Year

Cash FX 
movements

Other non-cash 
charges

At End  
of Year

€ € € € €

Cash 30,200,231 28,993,587 - - 59,193,818

Loans falling due within 1 year 13,801,477 (14,069,426) - 21,139,385 20,871,436

Loans falling due after more than 1 year 628,231,814 385,524,501 - (21,139,385) 992,616,930

Grants falling due after more than 1 year 424,160,980 6,812,178 - (12,865,275) 418,107,883

Total 1,096,394,502 407,260,840 - (12,865,275) 1,490,790,067

The notes on pages 99 to 112 form part of these Financial Statements.
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1.   Accounting policies
1.1  Company information

Clúid Housing Association is a company 
limited by guarantee, having no share 
capital, incorporated in Ireland on 
26th January 1994, (Company number 
212249). It is a registered charity.

1.2  Basis of preparation of 
financial statements

The financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis in 
accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 102, the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and the 
Republic of Ireland and Irish statute 
comprising of the Companies Act 2014.

The preparation of financial statements 
in compliance with FRS 102 requires 
the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise judgment in applying 
the Company’s accounting policies 
(see note 2).

The financial statements are prepared 
on the going concern basis as there is 
no intention to liquidate the association 
or to cease its operations, and the 
association’s financial position means 
that this is realistic. Following a review 
of the association’s business model and 
financial forecasts, including the impact 
of the pandemic, it has been concluded 
that there are no material uncertainties 
that could have cast significant doubt 
over its ability to continue as a going 
concern for at least a year from the date 
of approval of the financial statements 
(the going concern period).

The following principal accounting 
policies have been applied:

1.3  Turnover

Turnover represents rental income 
receivable from tenants, management 
fees, development fees and amounts 
receivable from local authorities, and 
the Department of the Housing, Local 
Government and Heritage.

Turnover is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable 

net of value added tax. All income 
is recognised once the company has 
entitlement to the income, it is probable 
that the income will be received and the 
amount of income receivable can be 
measured reliably.

Availability income

Availability income is charged to local 
authorities in line with the signed 
payment and availability
agreements.

Rental income

Rental income is charged and received 
from tenants on a weekly basis in line 
with the signed occupancy agreements. 
Rental income is stated net of void loss 
and bad debt.

Development fees

Development fees comprise 
of professional development 
expenses incurred which are due for 
reimbursement. These are recognised 
in the period in which the expense 
is incurred. Development fees are 
invoiced at the point of completion of 
the scheme.

Management and 
maintenance subsidies

Management and maintenance 
subsidies are payable annually by the 
local authorities to the Company in 
respect of projects completed under 
the Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme 
(CLSS). Management and maintenance 
subsidies are offset against planned 
maintenance expenditure within the 
Statement of comprehensive income.

1.4  Tangible fixed assets

Land and housing properties

Housing properties are properties 
available for rent, which are held at cost 
less depreciation. Housing properties 
in the course of development are 
also stated at historical cost. Housing 
properties have been split between their 
land and structure costs and a specific 
set of major components which require 
periodic replacement.

Components are depreciated over the 
estimated useful life of the component 
(excluding land) as follows:

Component Useful economic life 
(years)

Land Not depreciated

Structure 100

Roof 60

Heating 15

Windows 30

Electrical 30

Bathroom 30

Kitchen 20

Lift 40

Cost includes the cost of acquiring land 
and buildings, cost of construction and 
capitalised interest.

Freehold land is not depreciated. 
Depreciation is charged on completed 
housing properties, excluding the land 
element, on a straight line basis over the 
useful economic life of the component. 
Properties in the course of development 
are not depreciated. Interest incurred 
on a loan financing a development 
is capitalised up to the date of the 
practical completion of the scheme.

Included in Land and Housing 
properties at the year end are a number 
of housing units under construction. 
These are recognised at historical 
cost on a stage of completion basis. 
Housing units under construction are 
not depreciated until completed and 
transferred into management.

Other assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost 
model are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

1.   Accounting policies 
(continued)

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate 
the cost of assets less their residual 
value over their estimated
useful lives, using the 
straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided on the 
following basis:

Land and housing 
properties

see below

Freehold property 2-3% straight line

Plant and machinery 33% straight line

Motor vehicles 20% straight line

Office equipment 25% straight line

Computer 
equipment

33% straight line

The assets’ residual values, useful 
lives and depreciation methods are 
reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if 
appropriate, or if there is an indication 
of a significant change since the last 
reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing the 
proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive income.

1.5  Tangible fixed assets – 
Impairment assessment

At each reporting date fixed assets are 
reviewed to determine whether there is 
any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. If there is an indication of possible 
impairment, the recoverable amount 
of any affected asset is estimated and 
compared with its carrying amount. 
If estimated recoverable amount is 
lower, the carrying amount is reduced 
to its estimated recoverable amount, 
and an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in the Statement of 
comprehensive income.

1.6  Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value, being the 
estimated selling price less costs 
to complete and sell. Cost is based 
on the cost of purchase on a first in, 
first out basis.

At each reporting date, stocks are 
assessed for impairment. If stock 
is impaired, the carrying amount is 
reduced to its selling price less costs 
to complete and sell. The impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in the 
Statement of comprehensive income.

1.7  Debtors

Short-term debtors are measured at 
transaction price, less any impairment. 
Loans receivable are measured initially 
at fair value, including transaction 
costs, and are measured subsequently 
at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment.

1.8  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand 
and deposits with financial institutions 
repayable. Cash equivalents are highly 
liquid investments that mature in no 
more than three months from the date 
of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash 
with insignificant risk of change in value.

1.9  Creditors

Short-term creditors are measured at 
the transaction price. Other financial 
liabilities, including bank loans, are 
measured initially at fair value, including 
transaction costs, and are measured 
subsequently at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

1.10  Financial instruments

The Company only enters into basic 
financial instrument transactions that 
result in the recognition of financial assets 
and liabilities like trade and other debtors 
and creditors, loans from banks and other 
third parties, loans to related parties and 
investments in ordinary shares.

Debt instruments (other than those 
wholly repayable or receivable within 
one year), including loans and other 
accounts receivable and payable, are 
initially measured at present value of 
the future cash flows and subsequently 
at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Debt instruments that 
are payable or receivable within one year, 
typically trade debtors and creditors, are 
measured, initially and subsequently, 
at the undiscounted amount of the 
cash or other consideration expected 
to be paid or received. However, if the 
arrangements of a short-term instrument 
constitute a financing transaction, like 
the payment of a trade debt deferred 
beyond normal business terms or in 
case of an outright short-term loan 
that is not at market rate, the financial 
asset or liability is measured, initially at 
the present value of future cash flows 
discounted at a market rate of interest 
for a similar debt instrument and 
subsequently at amortised cost, unless 
it qualifies as a loan from a director in 
the case of a small company, or a public 
benefit entity concessionary loan.

Investments in non-derivative 
instruments that are equity to the issuer 
are measured:

 – At fair value with changes recognised 
in the Statement of comprehensive 
income if the shares are publicly 
traded or their fair value can 
otherwise be measured reliably

 – At cost less impairment for all 
other investments.

Financial assets that are measured at cost 
and amortised cost are assessed at the 
end of each reporting period for objective 
evidence of impairment. If objective 
evidence of impairment is found, an 
impairment loss is recognised in the 
Statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

1.   Accounting policies 
(continued)

For financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, the impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between 
an asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. If a financial asset 
has a variable interest rate, the discount 
rate for measuring any impairment loss 
is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract.

For financial assets measured at cost 
less impairment, the impairment 
loss is measured as the difference 
between an asset’s carrying amount 
and best estimate of the recoverable 
amount, which is an approximation of 
the amount that the Company would 
receive for the asset if it were to be sold 
at the reporting date.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and 
the net amount reported in the Statement 
of financial position when there is an 
enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

1.11  Housing loans

Loans are advanced by the Housing 
Finance Agency (HFA), Housing Agency 
and by the Department of the Housing, 
Local Government and Heritage 
subject to the terms of individual 
loan agreements. Interest and capital 
repayments are required to be made in 
respect of these loans.

Capital Advance Leasing Facility (CALF) 
and Cost Rental Equity Loans (CREL) loans 
accrue interest over the duration of the loan, 
interest is not paid annually and is accrued.

Loans also include loan facilities 
provided by commercial financial 
institutions and are recognised as 
loans at the point of completion in line 
with the terms of the loan agreement. 
Unutilised funds are recognised as 
restricted cash holdings. Interest and 
capital repayment are required to be 
made in respect of these loans.

1.12  Government grants – 
housing assets

Amounts advanced by local authorities 
and the Department of the Housing, 
Local Government and Heritage under 
the Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme 
(CLSS) and the Capital Assistance 
Scheme (CAS) are recognised as 
Government Grants. Grants are 
accounted under the accruals model as 
permitted by FRS 102.

Where housing developments have 
been financed wholly or partly by 
such grants the value of the related 
grant for the development is shown 
net of amortisation. Grants relating to 
assets are recognised in income on a 
systematic basis over the aggregate 
useful life for the housing assets.

1.13  Government grants – other

Grants relating to expenditure on 
tangible fixed assets are credited to the 
Income statement at the same rate as 
the depreciation on the assets to which 
the grant relates.

Grants of a revenue nature are 
recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive income in the same 
period as the related expenditure.

1.14  Operating leases:  
the Company as lessee

Rentals paid under operating leases 
are charged to the Statement of 
comprehensive income on a straight line 
basis over the lease term.

Benefits received and receivable as an 
incentive to sign an operating lease 
are recognised on a straight line basis 
over the period until the date the 
rent is expected to be adjusted to the 
prevailing market rate.

1.15  Finance costs

Finance costs are charged to Statement 
of comprehensive income over the term 
of the debt using the effective interest 
method so that the amount charged is at 
a constant rate on the carrying amount. 
Issue costs are initially recognised as 

a reduction in the proceeds of the 
associated capital instrument.

All borrowing costs are recognised in 
the Statement of comprehensive income 
in the financial year in which they 
are incurred.

1.16  Pensions

Defined contribution pension plan

The Company operates a defined 
contribution plan for its employees. A 
defined contribution plan is a pension 
plan under which the Company pays 
fixed contributions into a separate 
entity. Once the contributions have 
been paid the Company has no further 
payment obligations.

The contributions are recognised as an 
expense in Statement of comprehensive 
income when they fall due. Amounts 
not paid are shown in accruals as a 
liability in the Statement of financial 
position. The assets of the plan are 
held separately from the Company in 
independently administered funds.

1.17  Interest income

Interest income is recognised in 
Statement of comprehensive income 
using the effective interest method.

1.18  Designated reserve

The Company holds a designated 
reserve for the long-term maintenance 
of the Company’s properties. Funds 
transferred into this reserve each year 
are based on an assessment of the long-
term amounts required, as reflected in 
the annual stock condition survey.

Funds historically transferred out 
of reserves each year are based on 
actual spend on an agreed planned 
maintenance programme, which reflects 
the needs of our tenants and the 
adequate maintenance of housing stock.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2.  Judgments in applying 
accounting policies 
and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty

Preparation of the financial statements 
requires management to make 
significant judgements and estimates. 
The items in the financial statements 
where these judgments and estimates 
have been made include:

Allowances for impairment 
of trade receivables

The Company estimates the allowance 
for doubtful trade receivables based 
on an assessment of specific accounts 
where the Company has objective 

evidence comprising default in payment 
terms or significant financial difficulty 
that certain tenants are unable to meet 
their financial obligations

Useful lives of depreciable assets

The annual depreciation charge 
depends primarily on the estimated lives 
of each type and component of asset 
and, in certain circumstances, estimates 
of fair values and residual values. The 
directors annually review these asset 
lives and adjust them as necessary to 
reflect current thinking on remaining 
lives in light of technological change, 
prospective economic utilisation 
and the physical condition of the 
assets concerned.

Impairment of fixed assets – 
land and housing

The directors annually consider the 
carrying value of land and housing 
assets, and whether there have been 
any market indicators that would require 
an impairment. The directors have 
assessed that given the growth in land 
and property values over the course 
of the year, along with the programme 
of repairs and maintenance to the 
properties, that no material impairment 
has occurred that requires adjustment in 
the financial statements.

3.1  The number of units owned, leased and managed at year end are reflected below.

 2021 2020
Units Units

Owned – Debt Funded 4,085 3,155

Owned – Grant Funded 3,400 3,400

Leased 1,024 1,011

Managed 555 548

   9,064     8,114

3.2  Turnover
An analysis of turnover by class of business is as follows:

2021 2020
€ €

Development fees 734,923 562,559

Other income 568,566 515,528

Management fees 159,673 101,483

Availability income 46,643,604 34,519,913

Rents 27,827,600 23,731,960

75,934,366 59,431,443

All turnover arose in Ireland.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

4.  Other operating income

2021 2020
€ €

Amortisation of government grants 12,865,275 12,600,555

5.  Surplus on maintenance costs

2021 2020
€ €

Planned maintenance expenditure (1,589,480) (1,446,455)

Management and maintenance subsidies 1,622,412 1,597,565

Surplus 32,932 151,110

6.  Operating surplus
The operating surplus is stated after charging/(crediting):

2021 2020
€ €

Development charged as an expense 123,569 727,025

Amortisation of government grants (12,865,275) (12,600,555)

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (18,373,564) 15,545,891

Rent - operating leases 46,920 59,546

Motor vehicles - operating leases - 372,148

Auditors’ remuneration 113,035 25,830

Defined contribution pension cost 638,172 588,299

7.  Taxation
As a result of the company’s charitable status, no charge to corporation tax arises under the provision of Section 207 of the 
Taxes Consolidation Act 1997.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

8.  Employees
Staff costs were as follows:

2021 2020
€ €

Wages and salaries 12,309,394 10,113,987

Social security costs 1,351,478 1,187,638

Cost of defined contribution scheme 638,172 588,299

14,299,044 11,889,924

Capitalised employee costs during the financial year amounted to €NIL (2020 - €NIL).

The average monthly number of employees, during the financial year was as follows:

2021 2020
No. No.

Employees 250 224

Salary banding for all employees earning over €50,000 (including salaries, performance-related pay and benefits in kind but 
excluding pension contributions paid by the employer and any termination payments):

2021 2020
€ €

€50,000 to €60,000 45 30

€60,000 to €70,000 22 25

€70,000 to €80,000 21 14

€80,000 to €90,000 4 8

€90,000 to €100,000 6 3

€100,000 to €110,000 1 2

€110,000 to €120,000 2 3

€120,000 to €130,000 3 -

€130,000 to €140,000 - 1

€140,000 to €150,000 1 -

105 86

The Company commissioned Willis Towers Watson to undertake a review of various roles, salaries and benefits in 2021.
The review is based upon comparison with the private, public and non-profit sectors. The Chief Executive’s salary in 2021 
was €140,760 (2020: €138,000). The compensation paid to key management personnel in the year totalled €690,447 (2020: 
€674,978). There are a total of 6 individuals considered to be part of the key management personnel group.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

9.  Directors’ remuneration
The directors do not receive any remuneration in respect of the company (2020: €Nil).

10.  Interest receivable

2021 2020
€ €

Other interest receivable 8 258

11.  Interest payable and similar expenses

2021 2020
€ €

Debt finance 15,529,491 10,622,005

Capital Assets Leasing Facility (CALF) 3,721,600 2,519,310

Cost Rental Equity Loan (CREL) 18,611 -

Bank interest and charges 133,610 143,705

19,403,312 13,285,020
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

13.  Stock

2021 2020
€ €

Stock held for repairs and maintenance 200,070 171,374

An impairment loss of €Nil (2020: Nil) was recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income.

14.  Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year

2021 2020
€ €

Trade debtors - Payment & Availability receivable 4,144,844 2,505,309

Trade debtors - Capital funding receivable 3,393,605 2,890,537

Trade debtors - Rental income receivable 331,322 61,390

Prepayments 1,728,502 1,206,247

Accrued income 2,367,034 2,944,725

11,965,307 9,608,208

Included within debtor balances are provisions in respect of bad debts for €663,808 (2020: €616,345).

15.  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank includes restricted and limited access funds:

2021 2020
€ €

Unrestricted cash 22,006,734 19,124,705

Funds restricted for development 19,273,571 -

Availability Income receipts 12,706,582 5,868,594

Liquidity fund 5,206,932 5,206,932

59,193,818 30,200,231

Funds restricted for development comprise of amounts received in escrow from financial institutions restricted for development 
purposes only.

Availability income receipts are lodged to a restricted access bank account. Amounts can only be released to Clúid once 
bi-annual debt repayments have been made.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

16.  Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2021 2020
€ €

Loans owed to credit institutions 20,871,437 13,801,477

Trade creditors 1,851,894 1,526,823

Taxation and social insurance 6,398,957 2,197,193

Accruals - Operational 6,210,386 6,407,640

Accruals - Construction in Progress 11,143,914 5,298,239

Deferred income 8,318,510 6,057,022

54,795,098 35,288,394

2021 2020
€ €

Taxation and social insurance

PAYE/PRSI control 327,879 330,919

VAT control 3,978,326 1,840,540

RCT control 2,092,752 25,734

6,398,957 2,197,193

Amounts owed to credit institutions within one year are funded from Availability income receipts accumulated. Debt 
repayments are made bi-annually in June and December.

Construction in progress accrual comprises of construction works completed on new housing units in December of the year 
under review, and invoiced in the next financial year. Costs accrued are recognised on a stage of completion basis. Construction 
projects are funded by approved dedicated loan facilities, and amounts are drawn down from these facilities at point of 
payment to contractors. December construction works accrued become payable in the next financial year, and funds are drawn 
down respectively.

Trade and other creditors are payable at various dates over the coming months in accordance with the suppliers’ usual and 
customary credit terms.

Other taxes including social insurance are repayable at various dates over the coming months in accordance with the applicable 
statutory provisions.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

17.  Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2021 2020
€ €

Loans owed to credit institutions

Housing Finance Agency (HFA) Loans 709,054,628 485,997,373

Capital Assest Leasing Facility (CALF) - Amounts Owed to Local Authorities 241,256,760 154,095,740

Housing Agency Loans 7,162,465 -

Finance Institution Investment 54,065,935 -

Bank Loan 1,948,579 1,940,178

Amounts falling due within one year (note 16) (20,871,437) (13,801,477)

992,616,930 628,231,814

Government grants received

Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) 70,317,233 65,349,213

Capital Loan & Subsidy Scheme (CLSS) 531,563,934 531,454,622

Cumulative Amortisation (183,773,284) (172,642,855)

418,107,883 424,160,980

1,410,724,813 1,052,392,794

Secured loans

Included within loans owed to credit institutions are amounts owing to the HFA and CALF for €930,518,014 (2020: 
€626,291,636). Housing loans provided by the HFA are secured by fixed charges on specific housing properties. The loans 
are subject to interest rates ranging between 1.75% and 4.85% (2020: 1.75% and 4.85%). The loans are due for repayment in 
monthly instalments ranging over a 30-year period.

Also included within loans owed to credit institutions are loan facilities owing to Ulster Bank of €1,524,345 (2020: €1,940,178) 
for the purchase and fit out of Northbank House. Interest rates of 3.75% and 3.5% are charged on these facilities respectively. 
Ulster Bank hold a freehold first legal charge on Northbank House, 159-161 Sherriff Street, Dublin 1 as security over the loans. 
Further details of all charges on the assets of the company are registered with the Companies Registration Office and are 
available at www.cro.ie.

Government Grants

Government grants represents grants made to the company from CLSS and CAS schemes. No capital and interest repayments 
are required to be made on these grants provided that the company continues to comply with certain specific requirements of 
the local authorities with regard to the properties for which housing have been provided. These grants are secured by specific 
charges on the Company’s land and housing properties. €418,107,883 (2020: €424,160,980) represents grants to be released to 
income in future years in accordance with the accounting policy on Government Grants.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

18.  Loans and debt analysis
Analysis of the maturity of loans is given below:

2021 2020
€ €

Amounts falling due within one year
Other loans 20,871,437 13,801,477

Amounts falling due 1-2 years
Other loans 21,930,633 14,178,047

Amounts falling due 2-5 years
Other loans 69,065,289 44,684,574

Amounts falling due after more than 5 years
Other loans 901,621,008 569,369,193

1,013,488,367 642,033,291

The following is an analysis of the anticipated contractual cash flows including interest payable on HFA and CALF loans on an 
undiscounted basis. Interest is calculated on drawn debt held as at 31 December 2021. The Interest on Debt is calculated by 
reference to the underlying loan agreement and the rate applicable at the balance sheet date.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021 Debt Interest  
on debt

Total

€ € €

Due less than one year 20,871,437 18,637,123 39,508,560

Between one and two years 21,930,633 18,095,089 40,025,723

Between two and three years 22,376,950 17,534,965 39,911,915

Between three and five years 46,688,339 33,331,517 80,019,856

In five or more years 901,621,008 307,929,236 1,209,550,244

1,013,488,367 395,527,931 1,409,016,298

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Debt Interest  
on debt

Total

€ € €

Due less than one year 13,801,477 12,666,578 26,468,055

Between one and two years 14,178,047 12,290,010 26,468,057

Between two and three years 14,565,189 11,902,868 26,468,057

Between three and five years 30,119,385 22,607,962 52,727,347

In five or more years 569,369,193 242,263,824 811,633,017

642,033,291 301,731,242 943,764,533
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

19.  Reserves
Designated reserve

The designated reserve is held for the long-term maintenance of the Company’s properties. The reserve has been reviewed by 
management as part of the long term company planning process and held at 2015 level as it is seen as sufficient to meet future 
obligation when they fall due to maintain and repair existing housing assets.

Other restricted reserve

The other reserve represents donations of land to the company for the purpose of social housing needs. These lands were 
utilised in the construction of social housing in Galway and Cork.

Deferred amortisation reserve

The deferred amortisation reserve represents the credit arising from the FRS 102 adjustment on Grant funded properties offset 
by the depreciation on property assets. This reserve will reverse over time with the exception of permanent timing differences: 
2021 €29.6 million (2020: €29.6 million). The reserve is as a result of the adoption of FRS102 accounting compliant policies. 
Historically, the company accounting policy did not amortise CLSS or CAS funding or property assets.

Income and expenditure account

Includes all current and prior period retained surplus’ and deficits.

20.  Company status
The company is limited by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital. Each of the members is liable to contribute 
an amount not exceeding €1 towards the assets of the company in the event of liquidation.

21.  Capital commitments
At 31 December 2021 the Company had capital commitments as follows:

2021 2020
€ €

Contracted for but not provided in these financial statements 227,715,982 106,207,843

Committed to but not contracted or provided for in these financial statements 183,930,252 74,491,589

411,646,234 180,699,432

Capital commitments relates to purchase and development of land and housing properties and other fixed assets.

22.  Pension commitments
The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately 
to the assets of the company in an independently administered fund. Contributions to the scheme are charged to the Income 
and Expenditure Account as they become payable. The charge for the period is shown in note 8 of the financial statements and 
at the period end there were unpaid contributions amounting to €Nil (2020: €Nil).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

23.  Commitments under operating lease
At 31 December 2021 the Company had future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable operating leases for each 
of the following periods:

2021 2020
€ €

Not later than 1 year 2,473,440 1,990,493

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 9,893,760 7,961,972

Later than 5 years 22,371,203 20,017,008

Total 34,738,403 29,969,473

24.  Events since the year end
There have been no significant events affecting the association since the year end.

25.  Contingent liabilities
A number of claims have been made against the company in respect of personal injury and property-related matters arising 
from the ordinary course of business. The company, having taken appropriate legal advice is defending any claims made 
against it. Provision has been made for legal and professional fees incurred to date in respect of these claims €59,000 
(2020: €59,000), but not in respect of any claims made. Details of these contingent liabilities have not been included in 
the financial statements as disclosure of same could be deemed prejudicial to the outcome of these legal cases.

26.  Related party transactions
Roxborough Mews Management Company Limited is a related party of Clúid as Clúid owns 67% of the shares of the company. 
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 Clúid was owed €1,825 by Roxborough Mews Management Company 
Limited. Mews Management Company DAC. The Company is exempt from the preparation of consolidated financial accounts, 
by virtue of the Companies Act 2014 s301, as the only subsidiary is immaterial.

27.  Controlling party
The Company is owned by its members and managed by the Board of Directors, who are also the Company members.

28.  Approval of financial statements
The board of directors approved these financial statements for issue on 9th April 2022.
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